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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019, together with the
comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2018.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately 11.5%, or
HK$22.3 million, from HK$193.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to HK$171.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
increased from HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
HK$42.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019, mainly due to
the combined net effect of (i) intense competition among food and
beverage industry; (i) decrease in revenue from the newly replaced
restaurants as compared to the closed restaurants; (i) write off of
property, plant and equipment for the closed restaurants; (iv) provision
for impairment on property, plant and equipment and provision on
onerous lease contracts for the loss-making restaurants; and (v)
increase in legal and professional fee for business acquisition.

BUSINESS REVIEW

At present, the Group operated 20 restaurants under “Viet's Choice”
(#%2) brand, one restaurant under “Five Spice”(5#%) brand, which
is a full-menu Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurant offering a
more comprehensive menu as compared with Viet’s Choice, and
one restaurant under “Tascalopo”(6%]) brand, which is a full-service
Portuguese-style casual dining restaurant, in order to broaden its
cuisine offerings to capture a larger market share in Hong Kong and
enhance the profitability of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors believed this was
a challenging year for our restaurant business, which were adversely
affected by the intense competition. The Group believed this difficult
situation will continue and will influence the food and beverage industry
as a whole and the Group’s performance. In order to minimise the
impact of the industry challenges, the management will continue
to monitor and review the performance of the Group’s restaurants,
providing the highest quality cuisines and services, developing
customers-centric menus and enhancing its efficiency.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong will
continue to encounter various challenges, such as rising rental and
staff costs. By leveraging on the Group’s competitive strengths, the
management remains optimistic in operating and expanding the food
and beverage businesses in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to
seek opportunities to expand our network of Viet's Choice restaurants
as well as broaden our cuisine offerings to capture a larger market
share in Hong Kong.

In particular, the Company is in preliminary stage of considering
potential investments including an acquisition of a minority stake in a
company which is principally engaged in blockchain businesses. In
addition, the Group will continue to explore attractive investment and
acquisition opportunities to increase the profitability and shareholders’
value of the Company.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board, the senior management
and staff of all levels for their dedication and effort over the years. In
addition, on behalf of the Board, | would also like to express our most
sincere thanks to all our customers, suppliers and business partners for
their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB W R

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The food and beverage industry in Hong Kong is always challenging,
dynamic with keen competition, people are more budget conscious
and sensitive to the amounts they spend. The restaurant operators
continue to face a number of challenges, which include the following:

o High staff cost — Due to the rising staff cost and with the statutory
minimum wage in Hong Kong, restaurant operators have to
absorb the increase in wages thus causing an increase in
operating costs.

° High rental prices — Retail rental prices in Hong Kong experience
consistent year-on-year growth. To maintain customer loyalty,
reduce bill shock and remain in business, full-service restaurants
are compelled to generate smaller profit margins as operating
costs from both rental and labour costs continue to climb.

° Labour shortage — Restaurant operators have been affected
by labour shortage and high staff turnover. Shortage of quality
customer service staff presents a challenge for restaurant
operators in Hong Kong. Customer service within the food
service industry is perceived to be a less than desirable
occupation by the local population. This challenge is more
apparently felt by low-end to mid-end restaurants. In addition,
given the long working hours and low rates, particularly for
those who are paid at the minimum wage level, a large section
of the workforce is attracted by other industries like property
management and security rather than the full-service restaurant
industry.

Although the Hong Kong economy had a better-than-expected
improvement, restaurant operators continued to encounter various
challenges, including rising rental and staff costs, as well as difficulty
in retaining talent in an increasingly competitive market. The Group will
adopt a more prudent and conservative approach in site selection for
expanding the restaurant network.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a food and beverage group in Hong Kong primarily
operating Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurants, namely “Viet's
Choice” and “Five Spice” brands. In order to broaden the Group’s
cuisine offerings to capture a larger market share in Hong Kong, the
Group operated one international cuisine casual dining restaurant,
“Tascalopo”(6%] ) , which offers a mix of Portuguese-Chinese menu to
customers.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group opened two Viet's
Choice restaurants and closed four Viet's Choice restaurants.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group operated 19 Viet's Choice
restaurants, one Five Spice restaurant and one Tascalopo restaurant in
Hong Kong, of which three were located in the Hong Kong Island, six
were located in Kowloon and the remaining were located in the New
Territories.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 11.5%, or HK$22.3
million, from HK$193.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
HK$171.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to (i) intense competition among food and
beverage industry; (iij decrease in revenue from the newly replaced
restaurants as compared to the closed restaurants.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Mana ement Discussion and Analysis
EEERRESH

COST OF FOOD AND BEVERAGES

The Group’s cost of food and beverages decreased by 9.3%, or
HK$4.3 million, from HK$46.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to HK$42.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2019, which
was primarily due to the decreases in revenue during the year ended
31 March 2019. As a result, the cost of food and beverages as a
percentage of revenue increased from 23.9% for the year ended 31
March 2018 to 24.5% for the year ended 31 March 2019.

STAFF COSTS

The Group’s staff costs decreased by 6.9%, or HK$4.3 million, from
HK$62.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to HK$58.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was primarily due to
the enhancement of human resource management in response to the
decrease in revenue during the year ended 31 March 2019.

PROPERTY RENTALS AND RELATED EXPENSES

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses increased by
16.7%, or HK$9.2 million, from HK$55.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2018 to HK$64.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The increase was due to the provision on onerous lease contracts for
loss-making restaurants. As a result, the property rentals and related
expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 28.4% for the
year ended 31 March 2018 to 37.5% for the year ended 31 March
2019.
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SHARE STRUCTURE

The Company’s issued share capital as at 31 March 2019 was HK$2.0
million divided into 800,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) with par value of HK$0.0025 each.

The Shareholders approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 24 August 2018 relating to the share subdivision of
the Company by subdividing every one existing issued and unissued
ordinary share of HK$0.01 each into four ordinary shares of HK$0.0025
each (the “Share Subdivision”). The Share Subdivision became
effective on 27 August 2018. The Board believed that the Share
Subdivision would improve the liquidity in trading of the shares of the
Company and thereby widened its shareholder base.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The loss attributable to Shareholders increased by HK$41.4 million,
from HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to HK$42.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such increase was mainly
due to the combined net effect of (i) increase in depreciation as a
result of the increase in capital expenditure in recent years, (i) provision
made for impairment on property, plant and equipment and onerous
lease contracts for the loss-making restaurants, (iii) reversal of deferred
tax assets recognized in previous years (iv) increase in legal and
professional expenses for business acquisition, and (v) other factors
discussed above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash
flows and proceeds received from its listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Mana ement Discussion and Analysis
EEERRESH

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$48.2 million, representing a decrease of 49.7%, or HK$47.6
million, as compared with HK$95.8 million as at 31 March 2018. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the increase in financial assets and
capital expenditures. Most bank deposits and cash were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group will continue to use the internally generated cash flows and
proceeds received from the Listing as a source of funding for future
developments.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$97.3 million (2018: HK$110.7 million) and HK$29.0
million (2018: HK$18 million) respectively, representing a current ratio of
3.4 times (2018: 6.2 times).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any finance lease
payables.

As at 31 March 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was not applicable
as it had no outstanding debt. The gearing ratio equals total debts
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 November 2016
(the “Listing Date”) with net proceeds from the global offering of the
Shares of HK$70.9 million.

The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2019 was
approximately as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Maintain and expand Viet's Choice ERERETOEREEE
brand restaurants 23.3% 16.5 (16.1) 0.4
Broaden cuisine offerings ERERENER 61.5% 436 (6.6) 37.0
Upgrade and expand food processing centre ARREXREMIA L 3.3% 2.3 (0.1) 2.2
Upgrade information technology systems HREAREZSR 2.7% 1.9 (1.4) 0.5
Broaden the promotion of brand image RAREFERALE
and recognition 1.5% 1.1 (1.1) -
Working capital and general corporate purpose 2B E & K —MROE£H R 7.7% 5.5 (5.5) =
Total @it 100.0% 70.9 (30.8) 40.1
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS BEAKRE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEEE W RS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as the acquisition disclosed in subsequent events, during the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 285 employees (2018: 322
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification
and experience of each individual employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the ‘Remuneration
Committee”), with reference to their respective contribution of time,
effort and expertise on the Company’s matters. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
to reward the participants defined thereunder for their contribution
to the Group’s success and to provide them with incentives to
further contribute to the Group. The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the Listing Date. In addition, employees are entitled to
performance and discretionary year-end bonuses. No share option was
granted during the year. As at 31 March 2019, the Company had no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The long term goal of the Company is to build a diversified group with
a focus on catering business. While the Company will continue to
develop its core business, the Company will also explore the possibility
to diversify its businesses into e-commerce trading on food and other
consumer goods with a view to establishing a diversified e-commerce
integrated platform.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
exposure.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to (i) the passing of the special resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 24 August
2018; and (i) the issue of the certificate of incorporation on change of
name of the Company by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands on 7 September 2018, the change of the official registered
English name of the Company from “Food Wise Holdings Limited” to
“Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited” and replacement of
“BEIRIERER AR by ‘REEIEHER BB AR as the Company’s
Chinese name became effective on 7 September 2018. With effect
from 9:00 a.m. on 12 October 2018, the English stock short name
for trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has changed from
“FOODWISE HLDG” to “MSCTECH” and the Chinese stock short
name has changed from “BEIRIEAR" to “REIEIEY. The website of
the Company has also changed from “www.foodwise.todayir.com” to
“www.minshangct.com” with effect from 12 October 2018.

PROSPECTS

The Group’s strategic objective is to become a leading full-service
casual dining restaurant chain operator in Hong Kong. To achieve such
objective, the Group will continue to implement the following strategies:

o maintaining the Group’s market share and continuing to expand
its network of Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurants in
Hong Kong by the replacement of restaurants which the Group
has plans to close, opening of new Vietnamese-style casual
dining restaurants as well as further refurbishment of existing
restaurants;

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEEE W RS

leveraging on the Group’s standardised operations and
management and broadening the Group’s cuisine offerings
to capture a larger market share in Hong Kong by developing
different lines of casual dining restaurants, including full-
menu Vietnamese-style restaurants, French-Viethamese-style
restaurants and international cuisines restaurants;

upgrading and expanding the food processing capabilities of the
Group’s food processing centre;

upgrading the information technology systems to support the
Group’s future expansion and growth;

broadening the promotion of the Group’s brand image and
market recognition; and

actively exploring other business opportunities that will broaden
the sources of income and enhance value to the Shareholders.
In particular, the Company is in preliminary stage of considering
potential investments including an acquisition of a minority
stake in a company which is principally engaged in blockchain
businesses.

Please also see the section headed “Business — Our Business
Strategies” of the Prospectus for further details.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. WU JIANGTAO

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 43, is the Chairman of the Board,
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary
and banking from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in
July 1998, a master’s degree of economics from Chinese Academy
of Social Science in July 2007 and a Ph.D degree in finance from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in December 2012. Mr.
Wu was the chairman of the board of directors and chief executive
officer of Minsheng E-Commerce CO., Ltd (R4AZBFEBEBERET A
7) (“Minsheng E-Commerce”) from December 2013 to April 2015.
Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the board of directors of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd since April 2015 until now.
Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce, Mr. Wu served as the branch
manager of China Minsheng Bank Wuhan Branch from November
2011 to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”). Mr. Wu will receive a director's remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the
prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EXZReREEERERE

MR. LU SHENG HONG

Mr. LU Sheng Hong (“Mr. Lu”), aged 49, is the executive Director of the
Company since 6 July 2018, obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in July 1992 and a
bachelor’s degree in economics from Wuhan University in June 1998.
Mr. Lu joined Minsheng E-Commerce CO., Ltd as vice president from
April 2014 to April 2015. Mr. Lu has been the vice president and the
chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen)
Ltd since April 2015, who is responsible for the day to day operation
and management of Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen)
Ltd. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce CO., Ltd, Mr. Lu was
the vice branch manager of China Minsheng Bank Wuhan Branch
from September 2003 to April 2014 and an assistant to the general
manager of China Merchants Bank Wuhan Branch from November
2002 to September 2003. He was an officer and a section officer of
China Construction Bank Hubei Branch from August 1992 to July
2001.

Mr. Lu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lu will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MS. LI JIA

Ms. LI Jia (“Ms. Li"), aged 34, is the executive Director of the Company
since 6 July 2018, obtained a bachelor’'s degree in management
from Jiangxi Finance University in July 2006 and master of business
administration from New York Institute of Technology in May 2012. Ms.
Li was the vice general manager of finance department of Minsheng
E-Commerce Co., Ltd from March 2014 to April 2015. Ms. Li has
been the general manager of Hong Kong business of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd since April 2015 until now. Prior
to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd, Ms. Li was the assistant to
general manager of finance department from November 2009 to March
2010, the vice general manager of the finance department from March
2010 to February 2011 and the finance general manager of China
Minsheng Bank Nanchang Branch from February 2011 to March 2014.
She was the client manager of SPD Bank Nanchang Branch from July
2006 to September 2008.

Ms. Li has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Ms. Li will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to her duties and responsibilities with the Company, her
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EXZReREEERERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MR. WONG STACEY MARTIN

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 51, is the non-executive
Director of the Company since 6 July 2018. He joined China Tonghai
International Financial in November 2017 and is the chief operating
and risk officer of China Tonghai International Financial Limited. Mr.
Wong has over 28 years of experience in the investment banking
industry and has extensive experience in fund raising transactions of
Hong Kong and Chinese companies and has participated in various
kinds of transactions of Blue-chips, Red-chips, private enterprises and
H-shares and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Wong is an independent
non-executive director of OCI International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 329.hk). Prior to joining China Tonghai International Financial
Limited, Mr. Wong has been the chief operating officer and a director of
CMBC International Holdings Limited (a subsidiary of China Minsheng
Banking Corp., Ltd) since February 2015. Mr. Wong was the head of
investment banking of Piper Jaffray Asia Limited and also headed Bear
Stearns Asia Limited’s corporate finance team, worked as the Head of
BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited’s infrastructure and public utility
corporate finance team and spent ten years with Peregrine Capital
Limited. Mr. Wong received his master’'s degree from the University of
Cambridge, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
as a non-executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Wong will not receive
any remuneration but may be adjusted as the remuneration committee
of the Board thinks fit.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. KO PO MING

Mr. KO Po Ming (“Mr. Ko”), aged 60, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since 6 July 2018. He has over 35 years of
extensive experience in finance and investment banking business.
Mr. Ko has been appointed as the joint chairman of the board, an
executive director and the chief executive officer of Mason Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 273.hk) since 8 September 2016. Mr. Ko
has been re-designated as the chairman of the board and appointed
as the chairman of nomination committee of Mason Group Holdings
Limited (“MGHL”) on 2 January 2018. Mr. Ko is mainly responsible for
the formulation of development strategies of MGHL, as well as giving
guidance to MGHL’s project planning, financing and investment. Prior
to joining MGHL, Mr. Ko was the chief executive officer of CMBC
International Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the China
Minsheng Banking Corp. Ltd.

From October 2012 to March 2015, Mr. Ko was a consultant of
China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch and was
responsible for the setting up of CMBC International Holdings Limited.
Prior to cofounding Goldbond Capital Holdings Limited (“GCHL”) in
2003, he was the head of asian corporate finance of BNP Paribas
Peregrine Capital Limited where he was in charge of the corporate
finance business in Asia. GCHL was acquired by Piper Jaffray
Companies (NYSE: PJC) in 2007 and its name was changed to Piper
Jaffray Asia Holdings Limited (“PJA”). Since then and until September
2012, Mr. Ko served as the chief executive officer of PJA. Mr. Ko
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1982 with a
bachelor’s degree in business administration.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EXZReREEERERE

Mr. Ko had acted as independent non-executive directors of a number
of Hong Kong and Mainland China listed companies, including (i)
Nanjing Panda Electronics Company Limited (stock code: 553.hk)
between 1996 and 1999; (i) Dazhong Transport (Group) Company
Limited (SHA: 600611) between 1997 and 2003; (i) Chinese Energy
Holdings Limited (formerly known as iMerchants Limited (stock
code: 8009.hk)) between 2000 and 2004 and (iv) Tianjin Capital
Environmental Protection Group Company Limited (stock code: 1065.
hk) between 2003 and 2009. He had acted as non-executive director
of Petro-king Oilfield Services Ltd. (stock code: 2178.hk) between
2013 and 2018. Mr. Ko was a Listing Committee member of the Main
Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange between May 2003 and June
2009. Mr. Ko is a non-executive director of Globe Metals and Mining
Limited (ASX: GBE). He is also a trustee of St. Johnsbury Academy,
an independent day and boarding secondary school. St. Johnsbury
Academy is a non-profit corporation under section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code in the United States of America.

Mr. Ko has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Ko will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MR. CHOI TZE KIT SAMMY

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 56, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit
committee on 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 30 years of experience in
finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-executive
director of Prinx Chengshan (Cayman) Holding Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
1809.hk) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to August
2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of Ernest
Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.hk). From January 2007 to
November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director
of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.hk) and from February 2016
to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director of
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.hk).

Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales (“ICAEW”), a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), a fellow Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”),
a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi is now a committee member of Small and Medium
Practitioners Committee, Restructuring and Insolvency Facility
Executive Committee, and Professional Conduct Committee of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has been
a council member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Merchants Mutual
Assistance Society Limited since October 2013. He was a council
member of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors from
2010 to 2015. He has been elected as an honorary financial advisor of
Hong Kong and Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants Association (Wing
Hing Tong) in 2018.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EXZReREEERERE

Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG MIU

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (‘Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 49, is the independent
non-executive Director since 6 July 2018, obtained a bachelor’s degree
in business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1992 and a master’s degree in business administration from
The University of New South Wales in May 1998. Mr. M. Cheung has
years of experiences in the finance industry. He joined CITIC Capital
Holding Limited in 1999 and is currently a senior managing director and
head of structured investment and finance of CITIC Capital Holdings
Limited. He has been appointed as a director of China National
Investment & Guaranty Corporation, shares of which are listed on the
National Equities Exchange and Quotations, since 25 April 2017. He
was employed by Commonwealth Bank of Australia from January 1998
to May 1999 and his last position with the bank was as executive in the
corporate finance department. He was the assistant manager of the
investment banking department of Societe Generale Asia Limited from
January 1995 to February 1996.

Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MR. CHEUNG PAK TO PATRICK

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick (‘Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 70, is the
independent non-executive Director since 6 July 2018. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of National Agricultural Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1236.hk) and an independent non-executive
director of Amasse Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.hk). Mr.
P.T. Cheung holds a master’s degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong of which he was accorded as a distinguished
alumnus in 2007. Mr. PT. Cheung has extensive management and
administrative experiences. From 1969, Mr. P.T. Cheung had served
with the United Kingdom Government, British Forces in Hong
Kong for 21 years, with his final post as a Civilian Executive Officer.
Thereafter from 1989, he was employed by the Securities and Futures
Commission Hong Kong for 20 years, with his final position as Senior
Manager of the Finance & Administration Department. On the social
and community responsibilities front, Mr. P.T. Cheung was a devoted
volunteer officer in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service for 30 years during
which he was appointed as honorary Aide-de-Camp to the former
Governors Lord Wilson and Mr. Christopher Patten; and Mr. Tung
Chee-hwa, the former Chief Executive of Hong Kong Government, for
10 consecutive years from 1990 to 1999. Mr. P.T. Cheung achieved the
rank of Assistant Commissioner in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service and
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government
in 2008.

Mr. PT. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report
TtEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability.

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as disclosed in this
annual report, has complied with all applicable code provisions as set
out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 March 2019.

During the period from 1 April 2018 to 6 July 2018, Mr. WONG Che
Kin was the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Upon the change of the board members of the Company on 6 July
2018, Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”) was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board, executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Taking into account the consistent leadership within
the Group and in order to enable more effective and efficient overall
strategic planning and continuation of the implementation of such
plans, all the other Directors (including the INEDs) consider that
Mr. Wu is the best candidate for both positions and the present
arrangements are beneficial to and in the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution
of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board
and assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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COMPOSITION OF BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
eight Directors, three of whom are executive Directors, one is non-
executive Director and the other four are INEDs. Details of their
composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. WU Jiangtao

Mr. LU Sheng Hong
Ms. LI Jia

Non-executive Director
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. KO Po Ming

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.
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Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company had four
INEDs, representing half of the Board members, which has exceeded
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (‘Listing Rules”) that the number of INEDs
must represent at least one-third of the Board members, and met the
requirement that at least one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs) without the presence of the other
executive Director annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of REZE201943A31B ILFE - IRIFZE SRR
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 is B EEMBEXHEIBMAT

as follows:
Continuous
professional
development
Name of Directors programs
EEnE BEEXBREE

Appointed on 6 July 2018 742018756 A B Z T
Mr. WU Jiangtao R)T/E 5 4

Mr. LU Sheng Hong & B 4L 5t £

Ms. LI Jia Z{EZ+

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin =12 5 /¢ £

Mr. KO Po Ming i Z B3 5t 4

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy £ ¢ 5 4

Mr. CHEUNG Miu 5= 8 % 4

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick 3= 1A R %t 4

AN N N N T N N N

Appointed on 6 July 2018 and resigned on 30 April 2019
R20185F7H6 H E ZE A 201954 A30H BT
Mr. WAT Tat Fei JE Z#E R % 4 v

Resigned on 6 July 2018 420185786 H &1t
Mr. WONG Che Kin & &5 B 9 4

Ms. WONG Chui Ha Iris 28+

Mr. CHEUNG Wai Chi SR B 57 £

Mr. CHEUNG Yui Kai Warren R &£ % &

Prof. LAl Kin Keung 223 58 2%

Mr. LUl Hong Peace & %t 4

AN N N NN

The nature of continuous professional development programs are BESEBRREAZNEEAEERN S, &
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers, wmiE SKBIEEAE ERER LEEARES
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business, BEAENSmA BT REHEEL -

corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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LIABILITY INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimize risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company is responsible for
keeping all Board meetings’ minutes. Draft and final versions of the
minutes will be circulated to the Directors for comments and record
respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board convened a total of
nine meetings in person or by means of electronic communication. The
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is as follows:

RBE2019F3A31A L FE EFSURFHE
FRERASTR —HBRBLRER -RESNES
SEBhFECEMT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

HERE
Name of Directors EENR EEAH
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. WU Jiangtao (appointed on 6 July 2018) SITE% A (R2018F7 H6HEZ(E) 8/9
Mr. LU Sheng Hong (appointed on 6 July 2018) BRI (R2018%7 H6H EZ (T) 8/9
Ms. LI Jia (appointed on 6 July 2018) TEr L (R2018F7 A6 HHEZ(T) 8/9
Mr. WONG Che Kin (resigned on 6 July 2018) BEEEBREA (R20184F7 H6HBFT) 1/9
Ms. WONG Chui Ha Iris (resigned on 6 July 2018) BRELL (R2018%F7H6H (L) 1/9
Mr. WAT Tat Fei (appointed on 6 July 2018 and BRI A (R2018F7 A6 HHEZ (R 8/9

resigned on 30 April 2019) R2019F4 H30H 81T )

Non-executive Directors ETES
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (appointed on 6 July 2018) BRI E (R2018F7 H6HEZ(T) 8/9
Mr. CHEUNG Wai Chi (resigned on 6 July 2018) REY RS E (R2018F7 A6 H BFIF) 1/9
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. KO Po Ming (appointed on 6 July 2018) SERLL (R2018F7 H6HH#EZ(T) 8/9
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy (appointed on 6 July 2018) BT A (R2018F7 H6HEZ (T) 8/9
Mr. CHEUNG Miu (appointed on 6 July 2018) R AE (R2018F7 H6HHEZ(F) 8/9
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick (appointed on 6 July 2018) SRI1AKE 54 (R20184F7 A6 H#Z (T) 7/9
Mr. CHEUNG Yui Kai Warren (resigned on 6 July 2018)  sREESL 4 (R2018%F7 A6 H EET) 1/9
Prof. LAl Kin Keung (resigned on 6 July 2018) BB BHIR (R20184F7 H6H BT ) 1/9
Mr. LUl Hong Peace (resigned on 6 July 2018) BRESRAE (Ro0184F7 A6 H B IT) 1/9
Note: B eE
1. The number of Board meeting held before 6 July 2018 was one. 1. MR2018F7 A6 ZAIBR—XEFTE -
2. The number of Board meetings held on and after 6 July 2018 was eight. 2. MR2018F7A6A R 2 B BRNAEEESH -
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has already adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy,
Mr. KO Po Ming and Mr. CHEUNG Miu. The Audit Committee is chaired
by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy who possesses relevant professional
qualification and expertise in financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but
are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

o reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with the
external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

° developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

° reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

o discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that the management has
performed its duty to have such effective systems;

° considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;
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where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee convened

two committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit

Committee meetings is as follows:
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B2 HRRENT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

HERE
Name of Directors BEEHR SBERY
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy (appointed on 6 July 2018) BHEA (R2018F7 H6H EZ(F) 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu (appointed on 6 July 2018) KB AE (R2018%F7 H6H#EZ(F) 1/2
Mr. KO Po Ming (appointed on 6 July 2018) SERLE (R2018F7 A6 HEZ L) 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Yui Kai Warren (resigned on 6 July 2018)  sREEL 4. (R2018%7 A6 H B T) 1/2
Prof. LAl Kin Keung (resigned on 6 July 2018) RFRBIR (R2018%7 H6H BHE) 1/2
Mr. LUl Hong Peace (resigned on 6 July 2018) B E S E (HR20184E7 H6H BEHF) 1/2

Note: B EE -
1. The number of Audit Committee meeting held before 6 July 2018 was one. 1. R2018F7A6H Z AT B —
2. The number of Audit Committee meeting held on or after 6 July 2018 was 2. R2018F7A6A v 2 BH —

one.

REBIRHERBR AR
2019 F 3R}

33



34

rate Governance Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. KO Po Ming and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one executive Director,
namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. KO Po Ming is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors;

° considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Remuneration Committee

convened two committee meetings. The attendance of each Director

in the capacity of a member of the Remuneration Committee at its

meetings is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

o R REDEREMRERRIEEABBHREE
MENARRRTEERSEEEABRNE
& UEREERERERENIRTET
ﬂiﬁb&ﬁ@é%’ﬂ REE BETARF
BE TEHAREREERRE:

e RIMMEBREEXMEETATIEES

ZREZHE AERBRALHHES QO GRRE

EREREBANGRETE FRARE
J‘ME/\%@E:&

s WRMESFIHTMABEAL(EERLL
MRS EEEEAS HMH-

REZE2019F3A31B ILFE  HFNEE 2 B8
MAEESER SEEUFHEZESRE
HEESH ZRsmT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Name of Directors BENS HERE, EBRE
Mr. KO Po Ming (appointed on 6 July 2018) SEPLE (R2018F7 H6HEZ(T) 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu (appointed on 6 July 2018) R AE (R2018F7 H6HEZ (F) 1/2
Mr. WU Jiangtao (appointed on 6 July 2018) RILE SR (R2018F7 H6HEZ(F) 1/2
Mr. LUl Hong Peace (resigned on 6 July 2018) BREESRYE (R2018F7 A6H EFIT) 1/2
Prof. LAl Kin Keung (resigned on 6 July 2018) BB BHIR (R20184F7 H6H BT ) 1/2
Mr. WONG Che Kin (resigned on 6 July 2018) BEEREA (R2018%F7 H6HEFHT) 1/2
Note: B eE
1. The number of Remuneration Committee meeting held before 6 July 2018 was 1. MR2018F7A6B 2RI BR—AFMEESSZ -
one.
2. The number of Remuneration Committee meeting held on or after 6 July 2018 2. M2018F7A6HES v EBR—AHFMEEGEZ -
was one.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one executive
Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao, who is also
the Co-Chairman of the Board, and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of the INEDs; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee
convened two committee meetings. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meetings
is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

HERE

Name of Directors BEEHR SBRY
Mr. WU Jiangtao (appointed on 6 July 2018) SRITE %A (R2018F7 H6H#EZ(E) 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick (appointed on 6 July 2018) SR1AKE 4 (R2018F7 A6 H#Z(T) 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu (appointed on 6 July 2018) TWILAE (R2018F7 A6 HEZ (T) 1/2
Prof. LAl Kin Keung (resigned on 6 July 2018) RiEBBIR (R2018%7 H6H BHE) 1/2
Mr. LUl Hong Peace (resigned on 6 July 2018) BE&E (R2018F7 A6 H BEE) 1/2
Mr. WONG Che Kin (resigned on 6 July 2018) BEREA (R2018F7 H6HBFHT) 1/2
Note: B eE
1. The number of Nomination Committee meeting held before 6 July 2018 was 1. M2018F7A6H ZRIBR—AIREEECEH

one.
2. The number of Nomination Committee meeting held on or after 6 July 2018 2. 20187 A6 v A B —KIREEZEEE®EZ -

was one.

The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company in November
2018. Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, in evaluating and selecting
any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee would
consider the following criteria, including, among other things, character
and integrity, qualifications (cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy), any potential
contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity, and
willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if
applicable) by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not
limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Director has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (‘“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors
to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and does not offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further
Directors so to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
the persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2019 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, PricewaterhouseCoopers was
engaged as the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the
year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:

Y8 7 A% SR i B
HZE2010F3ASIHILFE  BEFKEGFTAISE
TP IERE AR £ E Y8 3 X AT -

#ZE2019F3A31A L FEEN BN B /K
EETAEBAMOFHME T :

Fee paid/payable

B ERER

HK$ 000

FHET

Audit services Z RS 1,700
Non-audit services (including business acquisition AR (BREEBWEZARE,

advisory services/tax compliance and MEE R EBBHRRE)
tax consulting services) 903
Total st 2,603

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers has stated in the independent
auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems by the management. The Board acknowledges that
such risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board conducts
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance as well as risk management, at least once a year.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has reviewed the
need for an internal audit function and considered it is appropriate to
adopt a co-sourcing model for its internal audit function. The Company
will continue to review the need of an internal audit function annually.
Accordingly, the Company has engaged an independent consulting
firm to conduct a review of the Group’s material internal controls over
financial, operational and compliance as well as risk management.
The risk management report and internal control report from the
independent consulting firm are submitted and reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the summary of findings and recommendations from
the reports were discussed during the Audit Committee meeting. The
Board, after conducting the above review, is satisfied that the risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

o the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

o the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. SO Shuk Yi Betty (“Ms. So”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 6 July 2018, who has a sound understanding of the
operations of the Board and the Group. Ms. So is the vice president
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and has
over 20 years of experience in corporate secretarial field. She has
been an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom since 1997. In addition, she
holds a Master of Law degree from the City University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Leicester in 2004 and 1999 respectively.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of Listing Rule, Ms. So has undertaken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
under 31 March 2019.
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As the Company Secretary, Ms. So has been reporting to the Chairman
who is also the chief executive officer of the Company. All members
of the Board can have access to her advice and services. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary will be subject to
Board’s approval. The primary contact person of Ms. So is Ms. LI Jia,
executive Director.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition,
working capital requirements and future business plans as the Board
may deem relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to
any guarantee or representation or indication that the Company must
or will declare and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not
pay any dividend at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company,
if any, will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association of the
Company and the Articles of Association (the “M&A”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move
a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must deposit
a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Units 4428-4430, 44/F, Champion
Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition is
found to be proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s) made or the
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM within
2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the contrary, if the
Requisition has been verified as not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or the
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

BRREBMARRBAIAENEF

RIRHERE BHEARRBME AT RARFRE
REERRABNNEHRANPRBED Z THE
A—2XZHRR ([EEKRRR]) KA ERER
EHMZREZTSXRANEARBREN KRS
NBHEZRPIEANEMNEER SERBIRER

RERERFENDZ-

BERRBRRENASREZEZLBET BHRK
RENAENEERRENEBREEBEGERR
REENEMER([ERE]) EREARFTRE
B EZE XM (R AE BT IRIERERT
ERE44184428-4430F) - WHEABABIWE -

BREVAFRIAFBEEBBRERERNOMS B
RARBBEHE ARKRRFIARGNREAE KEZ
iz e

ARBEERBERE  AERBRN S0 RAE
AIRARBINBERNDBEEL D BZE - il
EERLERABELEE RANERERESS
RIBHERERMEARNBRBREIRE R,/
FRBREFHAERAARBERBRIELNWEHE K
RERZBR -HR WERERE/THEE A
BEHAEBBRRBENGHER EFEKTE
A B FRRRFRIAE ERBERFIAEHAS
EREREENEZBRRIREZRER-



If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Units 4428-4430, 44/F, Champion Tower,
3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, by post, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to
the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes to
information required to be disclosed by Directors are set out below:

1. Mr. WONG Che Kin resigned as an executive Director, chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company on 6 July 2018.

2. Ms. WONG Chui Ha Iris resigned as an executive Director on 6
July 2018.

3. Mr. CHEUNG Wai Chi resigned as a non-executive Director on 6
July 2018.

4. Mr. CHEUNG Yui Kai Warren, Prof. LAl Kin Keung and Mr. LUI
Hong Peace resigned as independent non-executive Directors on
6 July 2018.

[} Mr. WU Jiangtao was appointed as an executive Director,
chairman and chief executive officer on 6 July 2018.

6. Mr. LU Sheng Hong, Mr. WAT Tat Fei and Ms. LI Jia were
appointed as executive Directors on 6 July 2018.

7. Mr. WONG Stacey Martin was appointed as the non-executive
Director on 6 July 2018.

8.  Mr. KO Po Ming, Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG Miu and
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick was appointed as independent non-
executive Directors on 6 July 2018.

9. Mr. WAT Tat Fei resigned as an executive Director on 30 April
2019.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT AND OUR MANAGEMENT
TO ESG ISSUES

REPORTING SCOPE

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report
(“this Report”) of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”). This report outlines the
Group’s ESG policies, management approaches and initiatives, with
the support of quantitative performance indicators to visualise the
Group’s efforts in managing ESG matters.

Unless otherwise specified, this Report covers the Group’s operation of
restaurant chains in Hong Kong. Reporting boundary of environmental
metrics include its restaurants and the food processing centre, from 1
April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (“the reporting period”).

REPORTING STANDARDS

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the “comply or
explain” provisions of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The reporting principles set out in the Guide serve as the underpinning
foundation of the preparation and presentation of this Report —

o Materiality — An exercise was performed to review the Group’s
list of material ESG aspect, which determined the focus of this
report.

° Quantitative — Quantitative data on the Group’s social and
environmental performance was disclosed with year-to-year
comparison and discussions on the trends observed.

o Balance — Apart from the achievements attained, rooms for
improvement in the Group’s ESG management was also
discussed in this report.

o Consistency — Consistent methodologies were used for the
compilation of ESG data as far as possible. Annotations were
added to information where changes to the methods or factors
affecting a meaningful data comparison presented.
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EnviropmenthaSocial and Governance Report
RE-HERERARE

The Board of Directors of the Group (the “Board”) recognises its overall AEFESES ([ESS|)AREHAEERE
responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. This Report HEREANRBERREEEEEET -ARSE
was reviewed and approved by the Board on 27 June 2019. ER2019F6 A27AKEETSHF M Kbk -

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY BOESHEREEMNML
ASSESSMENT

To engage internal and external stakeholders in shaping the priorities RIERNE RINE TN E D EBETERNEEIRE
of the Group’s ESG management, employees, customers, suppliers SREABEEMNBILEAF AEBDN2017FR
and business partners, were invited to participate in an online survey to EREE BER -HEBREBBEHSHE RS

score the level of materiality of various ESG topics in 2017, HEHRE e hERABRENEE N KFET
e

On top of the stakeholder-based materiality assessment results, the EHEOELEELNEEETEERER L F
management also conducted an industry and media analysis this BEMETAFENTERERS T UERE
year to ensure that the materiality analysis results are in line with the EUSMERATERSE R -BEERHER
industry’s context. The management reviewed capital market ESG MHRIRE g RERTRTE GERTERE
rating methodologies, the ESG report of appropriate peer groups, MERB HEREAREARMITHANTERE
and drew insights from recent press coverage related to the food and THREREBERTERENER ZHEHE K
beverage industry of Hong Kong. After review, the Company considers RARBREENRE HLELEREENT:
the most material ESG topics are:

Food safety and quality The Group delivers food as the major products and services to its customers, where it is
RmLehEE liable and accountable for the safety and quality issues induced from the food it served.
Any food safety and quality incidents due to inappropriate internal control could lead to a
significant damage to our brand value.
AEEMEBERINRRERFZERMRE At HERFEERN LT NEEM
BEE -ARARNZEHITEERNENZE REEFHHERERFTHRMNOMEE

(K
Occupational health and safety Food and beverage industry is labour-intensive and occupational health and safety is a
BEREREZE top priority to our management team.

BERTEBEHNERBTE BERRERLZ2HEMNEEERZHEE -
Employment relationship Stability of workforce is important to maintain our product and service quality, while
ERAR lowering recruitment and training cost.

BHNNREEHRRMEESER KRG EERKRERBEMBIKAEZHER -

Waste management, with a Waste management remains to be a major sustainability challenge for Hong Kong while
focus on food waste and use of food waste shares a significant portion of waste disposed according to government
disposable utensils statistics. Disposable utensils could also increase the burden to waste management
BEEYER BEARMBEYNE  system of Hong Kong. With rising concerns from the government and the public, the
— IR R E ) E A Group considers waste management issue a key sustainability topic associated to food

and beverage industry.

RERFTHE BEEVERDREEIBNAIFKERRIE Z — MEMBEYIEREL
FHEBAR —XUERANGENELEYERRSNBE -BEBNT R AR BN
B ARERRERYERRBERAERTEMBNEZAFELEE L —-
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The following topics are also considered relevant to our operation:

° Customer services and complaint handling

° Procurement

° Energy consumption

o Compliance in managing emissions and discharge

This ESG Report focuses on disclosure on our management approach
and performance of the aforementioned topics.

OUR MANAGEMENT TO ESG ISSUES

With the Board’s supervision, the senior management team of
our subsidiaries which operate the restaurant chain performs daily
management and internal control functions to the aforementioned
material topics. The senior management and the store managers meet
monthly to discuss regulatory updates, performance in service quality,
occupation health and safety alerts, among other operational matters.
The senior management team also conduct regular store inspections to
make sure the ESG internal control measures are well implemented.

RE - HERERRE
THIFRE TR R IR Ay 2 & B S AERE -
o  ERRBNRFREIE
o IXME
o HERHER
e EEFERNAREBR
ARFE HERE RS TIERBERMAR Lt
RENERTERRKR

RAHRSE HERERSENEE

CEEENEET RMAMBAR (ELEHE
BE)MEREREENHY P NERRBEATA
BEBRAMPEHRE - SREEERDEER
SARANMEMEEERENREBEE ORI
BR BBHERBURBERERZ2ER B
REBREEKNEERETHERE  URRE
5 RERAENEIEERERMT

RERIRIERBR QA
2019 £ 3]

49



50

EnviropmenthaSocial and Governance Report
RE-HERERARE

PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

As a growing restaurant chain operator pursuing a lasting business
success, the Group is fully aware of and acts to fulfil its responsibility
in maintaining the highest standards of food quality and services for
our valued customers. Besides excelling in taste, the Group strives
to safeguard customers’ health and safety and provide enjoyable
experience during their visits to the stores.

FOOD SAFETY

Upholding food safety standards is the Group’s priority in its operating
agenda. The Group has obtained all required operating licenses issued
by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (‘FEHD”) and
Centre for Food Safety of the Hong Kong Government regarding food
safety compliance for the food processing centre and restaurants,
including general restaurant license, food factory license and restricted
food permits.

To visualise the group’s commitment and requirement, the Group'’s
Restaurant Operation Manual, Food Safety Manual and other guidelines
referencing codes and material published by the FEHD outline
guidance to employees on food safety matters in sourcing, handling
storage and delivering of food. Guidelines on proper sanitation,
hygiene, waste disposal and compliant handling practices are also in
place.

The Group’s F&B Operations Department plays an active role in
overseeing the enactment of the guidance, observing revisions to food
safety — and hygiene-related regulations and ensuring our operating
sites comply to these revised regulations. Monthly meetings are held
to facilitate standardization and achieve consensus on food safety
requirements among all operations of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group receives, stores and processes food ingredients in the
food processing centre, where food preparation procedures, such
as unfreezing, cutting, blending, steaming and marinating, take
place. A set of safety and quality control measures is implemented
across all procedures within the centre. For instance, ingredients are
separately refrigerated with specific temperature controls which are
clearly indicated outside each cold room. First-in-first-out inventory
management is adopted. The Group also set maximum shelf-life for
different types of food to ensure freshness. All food containers are
labelled clearly in prevention of mixing and cross contamination. Staff
members are provided with and required to wear appropriate gloves,
masks and hats when processing food.

To ensure our employees adhere to our hygiene requirements, regular
visits and inspections to the restaurant are conducted jointly by
the operations director, district managers and designated hygiene
managers. At least one senior staff member at each restaurant is
appointed as hygiene supervisor after attending a training course
recognised under the Hygiene Manager and Hygiene Supervisor
Scheme of the FEHD. The appointment will be updated from time to
time to engage more staff members in duties of safety and hygiene
control.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance
with the Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), the Public Health and
Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and other applicable laws and
regulation regarding food safety, as well as the conditions stated under
the operating license.
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FOOD QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Customer satisfaction is one of the fundamental driving forces of
the Group’s sustainable business. The Group is in constant pursuit
to better understand and satisfy the needs and expectations of its
customers in relation to food quality, customer services and dining
experience.

For the sake of delivering food with consistent quality, a Recipe Form
for each of the items available on menu is formulated for reference of
kitchen staff in both food processing centre and at store level. With
the aid of training and regular communication, frontline staff are able
to understand and prepare the food with standardised specifications,
including temperature, taste and presentation. Regular and surprise
quality checks are conducted by F&B Operation District Managers
and the management. Certain stores are also subject to mystery
customer surveys arranged by third parties. Stores with unsatisfactory
performance are required to review the food processing procedures
and make simultaneous improvement under the supervision of
Operations Director.

The Group embraces the fast-changing market trend and customer
expectation through market research and food quality research, serving
as an objective basis for bringing the menu, services and prices up-
to-date. To capture customers’ direct feedback, the Group conducts
regular customer satisfaction appraisal and taste assessment on new
dishes in selected restaurants before official debut.

The Group is also open to customers’ feedback and suggestions.
Different stores can formulate improvement plans and actions based
on the feedback collected through customer feedback form for matters
related food quality, service standard, hygiene and dining environment.
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Formal channels and handling procedure related to customer
complaints were also established. At store level, customers with
unpleasant experience are encouraged to voice their complaint to
staff on duty and most of the complaints received in the reporting
period had been solved at store level. For complaints remain unsolved
at store level, those made through our customer services hotline,
through government authorities and covered by mass media will be
escalated to the administrative office and handled by designated
officer. Respective store manager is responsible for consolidating
and reporting the complaints received to the administrative office in a
timely manner through internal communication channels. Reasonable
solutions including redress will be determined and offered to customers
upon inspection and substantiation of the complaint.

The Group constantly reviews the records of complaints filed and
discusses with frontline staff during monthly meetings to enhance staff
awareness and competency in maintaining service and product quality.
During the reporting period, 118 cases of customer complaint was
recorded, being a 14% drop year-to-year.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s product quality relies largely on its suppliers, from where
it sources food product, packaging materials and other equipment
and materials necessary for maintaining smooth operation. The Group
works closely with its suppliers towards a sustainable and mutually-
beneficial business relationship.

To this end, an effective supply chain management approach is
adopted with the support of the Group’s supplier selection program.
The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers. To become an
approved supplier of the Group, suppliers need to undergo a set of
pre-approval procedures, including the examination of the required
operation licences and proof of origin of the supplied products.
Assessment in terms of food quality, reliability and timeliness of delivery
are also taken into considerations. Suppliers may be requested to
provide a small batch of products for sample tests to further ensure
quality.
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Performance of engaged suppliers are monitored on an ongoing
basis. Particularly, at both the food processing centre and restaurants,
staff who receive the incoming goods are responsible for inspections
to check if its quantity, freshness, temperature and packaging meet
the Group’s prescribed standards. Return or exchange of order will
be issued if the supplies are in unacceptable conditions. Suppliers
who deliver unsatisfactory products repeatedly or act in inappropriate
conduct may subject to termination of contract.

Concerning the risk of corruption during the procurement and quality
control process, we enforce the Code of Conduct which serves as
the general guideline in conducting business operations to the highest
ethical standards. All directors, officers and employees are expected
to fully adhere to the principles contained in it which highlights that
each team member must observe all anti-corruption laws, rules and
regulations that are relevant to the Group and its business. The Group
fully abides by the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance provisions. All team
members of the Group are forbidden to participate in any corrupt
practices such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Labelling and privacy matters are not considered material topics to the
Group’s product and service offerings and are not disclosed.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Stability of workforce is important to maintain our product and service
quality. As an employer of close to 300 employees, the Group devotes
resources to ensure a safe working environment with reasonable return,
as well as to nurture employees for greater awareness of product and
service excellence. The Group’s workforce supports its operations
in office administration, food processing and front-line restaurants
operation. Details of the distribution by categories are shown as
below’.

1. These statistics exclude the 5 employees that are serving the investment
holding arm of the Group.
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Potential hazards have been identified in our workplace such as R ERERESMIE OHIESAH#HE
kitchens and the food processing centre. By establishing an internal EER - FRETRNIBIIELEIES RETIRG
work safety guideline and carrying out on-site inspections, the Group BREMNAN AEEEERERBEEPHARE

aims to minimise OHS risks across its operations.
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To equip employees with sufficient knowledge to perform duties
safely, all new hires receive training on OHS-related topics. In the food
process centre, new employees are given on-the-job training about
the correct use of machinery. High-risk processes including cutting
and blending are performed by experienced employees only. Operating
guidelines and safety tips published by the Occupational Safety and
Health Council are also displayed at prominent areas where risk is
relatively high, for example outside the refrigerating rooms and next to
machines. Personal protection equipment and assistive tools, such as
heat resistant gloves, face masks, trolleys and safe ladders, are also
provided for employees’ daily performance of duties.

The Group also implements engineering controls to mitigate OHS
risks. For instance, in the food process centre, most of the cooking
processes are automated to reduce the use of open flame and knife,
so as to minimise the associated OHS hazards. Protection shield is
installed on machines and equipment to further secure employees as
they operate the machines.

The Group pays utmost attention to fire safety. Third-party inspection
and maintenance of fire-fighting equipment and facilities is arranged
regularly according to regulatory requirements. The Group also
ensures sufficient and adequate equipment, such as fire blankets and
fire extinguishers, are installed. The Group ensures employees are
familiarised with the evacuating procedure.

The Group treats work-related injury and accidents seriously. All cases
must be clearly recorded and reported to the administrative office for
further investigation. The Group also provides an effective insurance
policy to employees concerning work-related injuries.

During the reporting period, there were 6 cases of work-related
injuries, resulting in 753 lost days. These cases had been investigated
and reported via the aforementioned procedures strictly following
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59). The
employees concerned were entitled to sick leaves and insurance
coverage accordingly. To avoid reoccurrence, these injury cases and
preventive measures had been discussed among the F&B Operations
Department and store managers in the monthly meeting. In future, the
Group will continue to strengthen the implementation of OHS control
measures to protect employees from occupational hazards.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group recruits and maintains its employment relationship with
employees strictly based on compliance of laws and regulations. To
prevent recruitment of illegal labour including but not limited to child
labour and forced labour, a set of screening procedure is implemented
by the recruitment team. This involves reviewing and recording of job
applicants’ identification documents and proof of residential address.

At stores, frontline staff's working schedule is arranged according to
our operation needs. To ensure employees’ rights to statutory rest days
is secured, all scheduling arrangement is communicated clearly with
employees for their acknowledgement and agreement. The Group also
arranges sufficient rest hours and leaves adhering to applicable labour
laws and regulations.

Employment arrangement regarding benefits and welfare, recruitment,
promotion and training are communicated to employees on a fair and
open basis through the Group’s Employee Handbook and employment
contracts. All employees are entitled to benefits such as birthday
leave and medical insurance. Free lunch benefits are provided for
frontline staff. To recognise their contributions and hard work, full-time
employees receive discretionary bonuses.

The Group intends and is dedicated to creating an inclusive workplace
where communication is also emphasised. Discrimination in any form
related to age, race, gender, ethnical belief, family status or any other
factors protected by the law at any level within the Group is prohibited.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Equal Opportunities Ordinances and other applicable laws
and regulations regarding employment matters.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group regards developing its employees a vital factor in upholding
quality products and services and sustainable business growth.
Induction training and on-the-job training are the major channels of
experience and knowledge transfer. Food safety and hygiene training
on proper practices and standards such as food temperature, dish
ingredients, foodborne illnesses and personal hygiene are constantly
updated and delivered to employees at all levels. Regular operational
meetings also serve the purpose of training. For instance, business
development updates and new menu launch are conveyed from the
administrative offices to different store managers and senior staff, who
will further ensure the information is correctly communicated to front-
line staff.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Understanding its responsibilities in environmental protection as a
corporate citizen, the Group strives to explore ways in conducting
its business with minimal adverse impacts to the environment, which
in turns sustains our business with resources and suitable operating
conditions. Through pollution and emission control, resources
conservation, and fostering awareness, the Group expects to create
more lasting environmental values for its stakeholders.

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION

The Group acknowledges that waste management remains to be the
major environmental challenge for Hong Kong. As a chain restaurant
operator, the Group’s business generates a considerable amount
of waste, from kitchen food waste, meal leftover, waste cooking oil,
packaging materials to general waste. The Group has adopted proper
waste handling procedures and strives to reduce disposal to landfills
through reuse and recycling. For instance, recycling of carton boxes
is widely adopted at the food processing centre and restaurants.
Furniture, appliances and equipment in good working conditions from a
closed store will be reused in other stores.

Food waste

By managing supplies and inventory effectively, the group produces
limited amount of unsold prepared food as waste. Employees are
encouraged to efficiently utilise all ingredient supplies to reduce
unnecessary wastage. For stores operating in shopping malls that
implement a food waste recycling program, the Group strictly follows
the instruction and supports its business partners by segregating food
waste for their further handling.

Waste cooking oil

We consume cooking oil in significant quantities. The Group is
committed to handle waste cooking oil consciously to minimise the
hazardous impacts it possesses to the environment. All waste cooking
oil is properly stored in the designated containers and collected by
qualified parties under the Waste Cooking Oil Recycling Administrative
Registration Scheme. The oil will be recycled and transformed into
useful and high-value industrial products, such as biodiesel and soap.
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Packaging material

The Group fulfils its responsibilities in reducing the use of disposable
packaging material, notably food containers and disposable utensils
for take-away orders. The Group is aware of the impacts created
by the potential excessive disposal and continues to explore in
environmentally-friendly and sustainable packaging designs and
options. Also, the Group supports customers who pursue a green
lifestyle. Upon request by the customers, drinks can be served without
plastic straws, while take-away orders can be served in customers’
own container as long as there are no food safety and quality

concerns.

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354); no violation and punishment
is filed by the relevant regulatory authorities. The Group will continue
to observe the development of the waste charging scheme and
proactively implement new initiatives to respond to the regulations.

ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS MANAGEMENT

Electricity is the main form of energy consumed for our catering
business, covering refrigeration, cooking and daily restaurant
operations. Towngas is only consumed at few stores. Our greenhouse
gas emission mostly arises from electricity consumption. Refrigerant
fugitive emission also contributes to our carbon footprint and we aim at
choosing refrigerants which have lower global warming potential.

A range of energy saving initiatives have been adopted to achieve
optimal energy consumption performance and minimise greenhouse
gas emission. For example, LED lighting is adopted at all restaurants.
The machines in the food process centre are subject to regular check-
up by contractors to avoid malfunctioning and redundant energy
consumption. Also, employees are reminded to avoid unnecessary
energy consumption in their daily performance of duties. Proper
operation scheduling of the energy-intensive equipment is initiated
by the employees at stores. Mass processing at particular timeslots
instead of round-the-clock approach is adopted to reduce the
excessive energy consumption throughout the day.
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Energy consumption is also closely monitored and reviewed by the F&B
Operations Department and store managers in the monthly meeting.
For any identified inconsistency of the energy consumption records
to the business performance, the store managers are responsible for
looking into problems and executing follow-up actions.

AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL

The Group is mindful of the air and water emission generated during
its operations and has taken preventive measures to avoid pollution
in public premises and minimise the impacts to public health. Range
hoods and hydrovents are installed respectively in the food processing
centre and restaurants to capture cooking fume emitted during food
preparation. Grease traps are installed in the kitchens and connected
to the basins where staff handle food waste containing liquid and
wastewater from meat unfreezing procedures. Also, kitchen staff
are responsible to clean up the grease trap regularly in prevention of
leakage of grease and oil into the wastewater stream.

The Group ensures no emission and discharge exceeding limits as set
out in the operating licenses of its operations. Employees are reminded
to be conscious on any abnormality overserved at the emission outlets
and responsibly report any known or suspected violation of regulations
on hazardous discharge of air and water.

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 358); no violation and punishment is filed by the
relevant regulatory authorities.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group aims to bring its quality food and services accessible
to customers not only by reasonable pricing, but also creating a
convenient and barrier-free dinning environment. The Group adhere
to the “Design Manual: Barrier Free Access 2008” under the Building
(Planning) Regulation and ensure its restaurants provides adequate
access for persons with disabilities.

Although the Group has yet to formulate an overarching community
investment policy, the Group is wiling to dedicate its resources to
support community initiatives. During the reporting period, the Group
made a direct donation of HK$10,000 to the Community Chest of
Hong Kong. In future, the Group will further explore the opportunities
to strengthen the linkage between the Group and the local community
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where it operates.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

B8 52 45 AR AR

RERR

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE ®
Indicator Unit 2017/18 Figure  2018/19 Figure
EE B 2017/185 &  2018/195F &
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOy”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption kg 8.79 11.56
RELMBER REBIRELE T=
Sulphur Oxides (“S0Oy”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption kg 0.04 0.06
iRk 3 REBIRELE T=
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1)  Stationary combustion of Towngas  tonne CO: equivalent 116.29 152.92
REREBHR (SBE) eeaEha iy el M_aftiEE
Fugitive emissions (HFC and PFC)  tonne CO: equivalent NA 426.15
from use of refrigerant WS ixEE TE R
5 8L Bl 2 A bR HE R
(RREKCEMREERY)
Total tonne CO:2 equivalent 116.29 579.072
me M_aftikEE

RERIRIERBR QA
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Indicator Unit 2017/18 Figure  2018/19 Figure
E& B 2017/18F BiE  2018/19F &
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)  Purchased electricity® tonne CO:2 equivalent 2342.03 2310.62
REREEHEN (8E2) HNEEE 8 M_aftikEs
Purchased Towngas* tonne CO:2 equivalent 26.97 33.78
SN RS M_aftikEs
Total tonne CO:2 equivalent 2368.99 2344.40
HBE M_aftikEs
Total greenhouse gas emissions Total tonne CO:2 equivalent 2485.28 2923.47
MERBATNE HBE M_aftikEs
Intensity tonne CO:2 equivalent 12.8 17.1
g HKD million revenue
M-_fltkEE 88
A
Non-hazardous waste generated Food waste disposed® kg 23299 23648
BEEYELS BERMED® T=
Waste cooking oil recycled kg N/A 1497.59°
BEERRABEKE Fr TER
Office paper purchased kg 937 750
WARREES T=
Direct energy consumption Purchased Towngas MWh 607.3 798.6
B HNEERER KL
Indirect energy consumption Purchased electricity MWh 4327.9 4275.2
i SNEEE T KL
Total energy consumption Total MWh 4935.2 5073.8
BEREEE HBE KL
Intensity MWh per HKD million 2615 29.6
HE revenue
KRR/ BEATKE
Water consumption Total m?3 76096 76234
FKE HBE SR
Intensity m? per HKD million 393.2 445.2
HE revenue

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Indicator Unit 2017/18 Figure  2018/19 Figure
EE B 2017/18F BiE  2018/19F &
Packaging material consumption’ Plastic bag (Processing) tonne N/A 8.5
BEMEEE BRI (NI 7 TERA
Plastic bag (Take away) tonne N/A 2.2
2R%(T8) WA TERA
Foam/Plastic food container tonne N/A 12.43
R/ BRRRAR I TERA
Total tonne 19.8 23.2
wE i
Intensity Tonne per HKD million 0.10 0.14
BE revenue
W, BB BT
e The Group’s operations do not produce significant amount of REENZENREEREBEERED-
hazardous waste.
e Results achieved by measures mitigating emissions and energy REE R E RS0 B R a0 88 R PE 1S e i B
use were not individually quantified. The Group monitors the ER MERFERBERR AEEHARE
overall performance year-to-year instead. The Group has yet to MeER7KIE BE ©

implement water efficiency initiatives.

In the reporting period, we began to account for fugitive emissions from the use
of refrigerant in the refrigerators and cold rooms in stores and food processing
centre.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of
electricity sold published by Hong Kong Electric Investments and the CLP
Group in 2017 and 2018 respectively.

Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of gas
production published by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company in 2017 and
2018 respectively.

Figure was calculated based on an estimation with reference to the average
daily food waste generated from stores in 2017. The Group will explore means
to measure food waste disposed more accurately.

In the reporting period, we began to disclose the amount of waste cooking
oil recycled in order to present a more complete picture of the Group’s waste
stream.

Figure is compiled based on the purchase record of packaging materials.
Breakdown by category was not available for 2017/18.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE HEEX
Indicator Unit 2017/18 Figure 2018/19 Figure
BE B 2017/18F & i& 2018/19F ¢ #&
Workforce by category® Male Number 68 21% 62 22%
RERE S PRk and
BT Age Female percentage 254 79% 217 78%
pegi HFERBOL
Age 30 or below 48 15% 39 14%
30BR AT
Age 31-50 161 50% 134 48%
31-505%
Age 51 or above 113 35% 106 38%
B1BRE A F
Permanent 235 73% 201 72%
KA
Part-time 87 27% 78 28%
Py
Senior management 6 2% &) 2%
SREEAE
Middle management 19 6% 10 3%
PREEAE
Frontline staff 296 92% 264 95%
AR E T
Total 322 100% 279 100%
#Et
Average monthly Male % -- -- -- 12.9%
employee turnover Bt
rate® ° Female = = = 6.4%
FHAE 4
fE Bk o0 Age 30 or below = = = 18.3%
30BRIA T
Age 31-50 = = = 5.6%
31-507%
Age 51 or above -- -- -- 6.2%
5153 A £
Overall -- -- -- 7.9%

2e
e
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Indicator Unit 2017/18 Figure 2018/19 Figure
BE B 2017/18F &% 2018/19F &%
Work-related fatalities Number and 0 0% 0 0%
ETERRIET AH rate
HERL X
Lost days due to work-related injury Number of 57 N/A 753 N/A
AT HEELXTIERE calendar days T8 T8
AEXE
Product and service related complaints Number of case 138 N/A 118 N/A
BA 0 mm N BR TS BV R 5F RUEE @A N E
Charitable donation HK$ N/A N/A 10000 N/A
RERE B TT T E A i@ A T iE A
8 Workforce indicators refer to the number of employees as at the end of the 8 BT ABESRERTNESEVBFEFERNESEE -

Group'’s financial year.

Monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of s
employee terminated employment relationship in a month by the average
number of employee in a month. An employee may terminate employment

for multiple occasions within a year. Repeated resignations are included in
calculating the turnover rate.

We have introduced a new system in deriving people-related metrics since Y
April 2018. Monthly employee turnover rate before the system deployment
was not available.
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The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the operation of Viethamese-style casual
dining restaurants with 21 restaurants in Hong Kong as at 31 March
2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (i) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (iii) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 78 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 91 of
this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the Shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2019 are
set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, was approximately HK$61.3 million inclusive of share
premium and retained profits/accumulated losses.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and there
is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 164 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group donated HK$10,000
to a charity.

Directors’ Re%‘(ort
EEg

RAFE B BTN
REE2019F3A31B L FE B BITRMOMFS
BRGRAE M B RERME24 -

A] 73 Ik {7 168

201963 A31 8  IRIFASHE A FEAFTEAAR
AR AEDRFEENAC1.3EES T (BERME

BRREB&EFBEEE) -

% 32 # 80 177 7
AKARREE2019F3 A3 B IFFEEWET LT
A IR ZE 401735 -

BRBEE
ERETTEELBEEORTANSHE R
BT S ARG READ TR
FIAR AR HEHRE -

TR
FEERBESANREENEEAREER AR
BB B A 1647 -

CHESBRIA LR LTRSS

REZE201943A31B LEF[E » AR &) & BT
BRARMERE  HEXELOEMERD -

%—

RK

/\

REE2019F3A31H I FE - A& BE$E 510,000
BT —RAEHE-

RERIRIERBR QA
2019 £ 3]

67



68

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November

2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on Listing Date and

its principal terms are summarized below:

(1

()

(3)

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

ELIGIBLE PERSONS

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (i) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum of 20,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue on Listing Date, which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

xR 2
AATF2016F 11 A8 H A FEIAERT 2] - B AL AE
FEER ETEAR EX BT

(1

()

(3)

ER:)
BREAIENENEESEERAERAL
(EERTXOETRERE FSHESRE
[ P E B BA S B B R RO BB S AR R - DA K
EBEIRBEEFNAERALT TSI AL
EEEENADEIR-

BERAL
[AEBATIROIAEEEMKE ARIHK
EERMEMNEESHRTEER (THRERBHK
B BREMES) ¢ R(EAE 5K AR
g EAEP IREMR  FEHEME
MXEOERALRER ERRRIEAM
HAKEREAREEBNERLREREM
BEMAL

AT RITROAER

ARBEEREASSTRLIOZMER
RETEMAFTETNRSRHEE R
20,000,000/ fz 17 - BIR £ A 2 # 177
BEE10% °



(4)

()

(6)

()

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PERSON

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

OPTION PERIOD

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

MINIMUM VESTING PERIOD

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board in
the relevant offer of options.

PAYMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF THE OPTION

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

Directors’ Report
EER
BREEEBALTHWEELR

BRIFEAR RN IR A E#AE R T XBOR
ZRBET  RER121E A A A B AR EER
B BIREA— B ATRENBRE (B
BT B R ERITERNBRE)ET
EMETEGTETNRERN BB T SE
BTEEEITRMAI% -

A—ZETERRH—BBILIFRTEEFRIE
MEESENBEAL (EER EWHRAD
RO ZBEE BREER0 B (8%
B)IEEf+—E A BHE @A BB ET
M BB EN0.1%  R(0)R TR T HE R
ERNRMHEHEFENRERAASE
T AR EEREN R AE R ERRRK
RRE LHk&-

BREHR
RIFBREFBIMBRA ARATRESS
5 B8 TE B KN A IR RO BT o A BB B 2 7

SE D TTIERB AR - X B ER A TF
HBEEL R AL 5 AHRZTF

HE%k—BREm-

REEEYE
BRIEEFERAMBRREOMSITRE
198 4 A AR A I 1T 48 BT 4 B B B O
-

BB REANRKE
BRE SN2 EEARELN A RE21R
ARAARBERIEARZNRL KM LM
ARRXNEBNBEREIB T RBERE
R KE-

REBIRHERBR AR
2019 F 3R}

69



70

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

8

9)

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

REMAINING LIFE

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period
no further options shall be granted. All options granted and
accepted and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the
expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been

granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was

exercised or cancelled or has lapsed during the year ended 31 March

2019 and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2019.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jiangtao
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Mr. LU Sheng Hong (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Ms. LI Jia (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Mr. WAT Tat Fei
(appointed on 6 July 2018 and resigned on 30 April 2019)
Mr. WONG Che Kin (resigned on 6 July 2018)
Ms. WONG Chui Ha Iris (resigned on 6 July 2018)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Mr. CHEUNG Wai Chi (resigned on 6 July 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KO Po Ming (appointed on 6 July 2018)

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Mr. CHEUNG Miu (appointed on 6 July 2018)

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick (appointed on 6 July 2018)
Mr. CHEUNG Yui Kai Warren (resigned on 6 July 2018)
Prof. LAl Kin Keung (resigned on 6 July 2018)

Mr. LUl Hong Peace (resigned on 6 July 2018)

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Ms. LI Jia, Mr. WONG Stacey Martin and Mr. CHEUNG
Miu shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 15 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. LU Sheng Hong and Ms. LI Jia, being
the executive Directors, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year, which will continue thereafter unless
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ notice in writing.

Mr. WAT Tat Fei the former executive Director has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year, which will continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice in writing. He resigned as executive Director
on 30 April 2019.

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin, being the non-executive Director, has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the non-executive Directors or the Company may terminate the
agreement by giving the other party not less than one month’s notice in
writing.

Each of Mr. KO Po Ming, Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG
Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick, being the Independent Non-
executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is
renewable automatically for successive terms of one year commencing
from the day immediately after the expiry of the then current term of his
appointment, and either the Independent Non-executive Directors or
the Company may terminate the agreement by giving the other party
not less than one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of each Director
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:
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EERASTRASREG 1AMk
19 e 8 3 P B M 2 BOK B

N
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MR2019F3A31H S EER AR A HL M8
BAE (EEABEFRBEGRA ([BHREEK
Bl ] ) EXVER) BBk 15 - MBI () RIEEFE R HEEZ
ARRIRIER S LB E KA FEI52GBTEZER
MARIBIEIZESTRZBRITME AR A R FT
MERSSIAB T :

Number of Approximate

Shares held/ percentage of

interested the total

Name of Director Capacity Name of associated corporation (Note 1) issued Shares
FE#T

Fits/ BEREZ R BH 2

Espg 56 HEEEAR ROBE (M) BREAL
Wu Jiangtao (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation  Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings 200,000,000 11.29%

(‘“Minsheng E-Commerce”) (Note 3)
REEHER ORI BEBRATF
(IREEMI) (M3)

RTE (Mzk2) FEmEE R (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
Notes:
(1) Interests in shares stated above represents long position.

(2)  These equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce were held by# Il K% &l
EREPD (BRAE) Shenzhen Minshang Chuangye Investment Center
(Limited Partnership)*) (“Shenzhen Minshang Limited Partnership”) which
was owned by, among others, &Il K7 3% & 1% & E B B R A 7l(Shenzhen
Minshang Development Investment Management Co., Ltd.”) (“Shenzhen
Minshang”) as to 98.4% and Mr. Wu as to 0.8%. Shenzhen Minshang is
owned by, among others, Mr. Wu as to 76.92%. As such, Mr. Wu was deemed
to be interested in 11.29% equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce.

(©)] Minsheng E-Commerce is deemed to be one of the substantial shareholders
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2019, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, as follows:

Y

ERRBCR N & R

BRARE M S MR M 26 R BEE N MERKEF
P o] B ] - #8047 48 fo] 1 AN & R sl E AR AR BfY
BRBMRI L AEMZERRREEREERERE
AESZBEAARERB L EZAN (TRES
FARSEERE RS -

ARREBRRMEMALRARAR]
A in K AR BERR fn O B 2 BOX B

PLEFAL  R2019F3A31H - LM TEBE R A
T (WIBFHARRRFERITHAER) RERH 4E
BN R HEERBEES KRB K EXVEE2R3
DERESETHEBEHERSOAE  RERA
NAIRBEES R E GO EIBCIE A TERETE
ZETMRnERSORBEINT

Number of
Ordinary Approximate
Shares held/ percentage of
interested shareholdings
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) in the Company
i/ BEER
ZEBRHYE BARRARRE
TERRBR BB 54/ RuME (FftzE1) ZBHNEI
MSEC Holdings Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 486,918,182 (L) 60.86%
(“MSCE Holdings’) EnEAA 20,000,000 (S) 2.5%
MSEC Holdings Limited ([ MSCE Holdings ] )
CE
RUNMING International Limited Interests in controlled corporation 486,918,182 (L) 60.86%
(‘Runming”) (Note 2) REEEE R 20,000,000 (S) 2.5%
HAEERARAR ([H#]) (MF2)
Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Interests in controlled corporation 486,918,182 (L) 60.86%
Company Limited* (‘Shanghai Yingzhao’) REEEE R 20,000,000 (S) 2.5%

(Note 2)
FERRREEEERAR ([LEBERB])
(FE2)
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Name of substantial shareholder

TERRBEE BB

Capacity/Nature of interest

5/ #EHE
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Beijing Ruitao Technology Company Limited*

(“Beijing Ruitao”) (Note 2)

IEREHHUREREELA ([EREHE])

(KF&E2)

Minsheng E-commerce (Note 2)
RAEER (Mi2)

Kilmorey Funds SPC Limited —Kilmorey Global
Opportunity Fund SP (“Kilmorey Fund”) (Note 3)

Kilmorey Funds SPC Limited —Kilmorey Global
Opportunity Fund SP3( [Kilmorey Fund |)

(FfEE3)

Kilmorey Asset Management Limited (Note 3)

ENEEERBRAA (HES)

Kilmorey International Holdings Limited (Note 3)

SHeRERERARAE (ME3)

R.G. Investment Limited (Note 3)
R.G. Investment Limited ( Ff53)

Xu Lingyan (Note 3)
23 AR

Kaiser Financial Group Company Limited

(“‘Kaiser”) (Note 4)

BEELBEEERAT ([HE]) (Hia)

Kaiser Financial Group International Limited

(“Kaiser International”) (Note 4)

Kaiser Financial Group International Limited
(TKaiser International | ) (f{zE4)

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE 2 s

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE 2 s

Beneficial owner

ERERA

Investment manager
REKE

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE 2 s

Beneficial owner

ERERA

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE 2 s

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE 2 s

Interests in controlled corporation

MEEEE 2R

Interests in controlled corporation
REEEE s

Number of
Ordinary Approximate
Shares held/ percentage of
interested shareholdings
(Note 1) in the Company

i/ HE RS
EERHE AR DR R AE
B ZBRNBEDL
486,918,182 (1) 60.86%
20,000,000 (S) 2.5%
486,918,182 (1) 60.86%
20,000,000 (S) 2.5%
70,794,652 (L) 8.85%
70,794,652 (L) 8.85%
70,794,652 (L) 8.85%
41,530,116 (L) 5.19%
112,324,768 (L) 14.04%
112,324,768 (L) 14.04%
73,338,652 (L) 9.17%
73,338,652 (L) 9.17%

EEARERERA
2010558 1O
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Number of
Ordinary Approximate
Shares held/ percentage of
interested shareholdings
Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) in the Company
i/ BeERR
EERHE AR DR R AE
TERREE BB B/ RREME B ZHBHNES L
Plenty Champion Limited Interests in controlled corporation 73,338,652 (L) 9.17%
(“Plenty Champion”) (Note 4) REEEE 2w
Plenty Champion Limited
(T Plenty Champion | ) (Fff314)
Zhu Lina (Note 4) Interests in controlled corporation 73,338,652 (L) 9.17%
B (Fi5E4) MNEEEE 2w
Zhang Kegiang (Note 4) Interest of spouse 73,338,652 (L) 9.17%
ok 7o 58 (FfiEE4) fe B2 #E s
Note: B EE -

Q)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares. The
letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the relevant shares.

As at 31 March 2019, among 486,918,182 Shares were held by MSEC
Holdings. In addition, MSEC Holdings had a short position of 20,000,000
Shares. MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by Runming which is in turn wholly-
owned by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Beijing
Ruitao which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As such,
Minsheng E-Commerce, Beijing Ruitao, Shanghai Yingzhao and Runming were
deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC Holdings.

As at 31 March 2019, Kilmorey Fund was interested in 70,794,652 Shares.
Kilmorey Asset Management Limited is the investment manager of Kimorey
Fund. Kimorey International Holdings Limited is interested in 41,530,116
Shares, representing 5.19% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
and is the holder of management shares of Kilmorey Fund. Kilmorey
International Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by R.G. Investment Limited
which is in turn wholly-owned by Ms. Xu Lingyan. As such, Kiimorey Asset
Management Limited, Kilmorey International Holdings Limited, R.G. Investment
Limited and Ms. Xu Lingyan were deemed to be interested in the Shares
interested by Kilmorey Fund. R.G. Investment Limited and Ms. Xu Lingyan
were also deemed to be interested in the abovementioned 41,530,116
Shares.

As at 31 March 2019, Kilmorey Fund was interested in 70,794,652 Shares.
Kaiser is the holder of participating shares of Kilmorey Fund and is interested
in 2,544,000 Shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kaiser Credit
Limited, representing 0.32% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.
Kaiser is wholly-owned by Kaiser International which is in turn owned by Plenty
Champion as to 83.32%. Plenty Champion is wholly-owned by Ms. Zhu Lina
who is a spouse of Mr. Zhang Kegiang. As such, Kaiser, Kaiser International,
Plenty Champion, Ms. Zhu Lina and Mr. Zhang Kegiang were deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by both Kilmorey Fund and Kaiser Credit Limited.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors or the chief executives
of the Company are aware of as at 31 March 2019, no corporation/
person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had any interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The Group had not entered into any connected transaction during the
year ended 31 March 2019, which is required to be disclosed under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Related party transactions entered
into by the Group during the year, are disclosed in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements. Certain related party transactions set
out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements constitute de
minimis continuing connected transactions and are fully exempt from
the connected transaction requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Owing to the fact that the Group targets the mass-market customers
and has a large and diverse customers base in Hong Kong, coupled
with the nature of its business, the Group does not rely on any single
customer.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 62.3% and approximately 19.2% of the total purchases
of food and beverages, respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest suppliers
of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

U]

(m

Placing of New Shares Under Specific Mandate

On 6 November 2018, the Company and CCB International
Capital Limited as placing agent (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Placing Agent conditionally agreed to procure not
less than six placees on a best effort basis to subscribe for
up to a maximum of 56,607,666 placing shares (the “Placing
Shares”) at the placing price of HK$1.1 per placing share (the
“Placing”). An ordinary resolution was passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 11 April 2019 to approve,
confirm and ratify the Placing Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including but not limited to the
allotment and issue of the Placing Shares under the specific
mandate.

The gross proceeds from the Placing after completion are
estimated to be approximately HK$62.3 million and the net
proceeds from the Placing (after deducting all commissions and
other expenses) are estimated to be approximately HK$58.7
million.

The Company intends to use (i) 38.3% of the net proceeds from
the Placing for funding a shareholder’s loan; (i) 51.7% of the net
proceeds from the Placing for potential acquisition; and (i) 10%
of the net proceeds from the Placing for general working capital.

Major Acquisition

On 31 December 2018, MSCT Investment Limited ( & 7 8 %:H%
EHBR AR (the “Purchaser”’) being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) with RETBEIER CRYI) AR QA
(Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd) (the
“Vendor”).

Pursuant to the SPA, the Vendor shall sell and the Purchaser
shall purchase the entire issued share capital (the “Sale Share”)
and a shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) of MSEC

Investment Limited (the “Target Company”).
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The Target Company is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability. It directly owns the entire issued
capital of MSEC Investment (HK) Limited (‘“MSEC HK”) which
in turn owns 50% interests in It RREEREFHBFERA
7] (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*) (‘Minshang
Zhihui”). Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology
and e-commerce related business in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) focusing on providing e-commerce services to
financial institutions and its other customers in the PRC.

The conditions precedent to completion of the SPA have been
fulfiled and completion took place on 24 April 2019 on which the
Sale Share and the Shareholder’'s Loan have been transferred
or assigned to the Purchaser in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SPA.

The Company has allotted and issued 58,918,182 consideration
shares to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$1.1 per
consideration share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the SPA. The 58,918,182 consideration shares represent
approximately 7.36% of the issued share capital of the Company
prior to the issue of the consideration shares and approximately
6.86% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the consideration shares.

Following completion of the SPA, the Company indirectly owns
the entire issued share capital of the Target Company, which
in turn holds 50% equity interests in Minshang Zhihui through
MSEC HK. As such, the Target Company and MSEC HK will
become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and the
financial results of the Target Company and MSEC HK will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Company, while
Minshang Zhihui will only be accounted for as an associate of
the Company following completion. Accordingly, the financial
results of Minshang Zhihui will not be consolidated to the Group’s
accounts.

For more details about the Placing and the SPA, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 25 March 2019.

* for identification purpose only
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(Ill) Subscription of 8% Bonds

On 14 May 2019, the Company has agreed to subscribe for the
bonds in the principal amount of HK$30,000,000 at the interest
rate of 8% per annum. For more details about the subscription,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14 May
2019.

Save as disclosed in this annual report there is no material subsequent
event after 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2019.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Below are the change in Director’s information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy, an independent non-executive Director,
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Prinx
Chengshan (Cayman) Holding Limited with effect from 10 September
2018, the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1809).
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EEEHE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

_B
pwc

To the Shareholders of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings
Limited (formerly known as “Food Wise Holdings Limited”)
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Food Wise Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to
163, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the-impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment and provision for onerous

contracts as described below.

Key Audit Matter
BAREITEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
% 3L 1% BBl 3R
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e

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESF A EERERETSEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and provision for onerous contracts

¥ BERREBREFERERMESAEE

Refer to notes 2.8 and 2.17 to the consolidated financial
statements for the Group’s accounting policies on
impairment of non-financial assets and provision for onerous
contracts respectively and note 4.1(b) on the critical
accounting estimates and judgements in relation to the
impairment and provision.
EXBEFHeREEREREBEREESNBBNGER
DRIRERE M HmKRMT2.8%2.17 MEZREREEE
BB g ST aT KA R EE4.1(0)

Management determined that each restaurant is a cash-
generating unit. Certain of the Group’s restaurants were
loss making which require assessment of impairment of
the relevant restaurants’ property, plant and equipment
(“PPE”) and provision for onerous contracts. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, provision for impairment of PPE and
onerous contracts, amounting to HK$5.2 million and HK$9.7
million respectively, were recognised by the Group.
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In respect of management’s impairment assessment of PPE,
our audit procedures included a detailed evaluation of the
Group’s discounted cash flow forecast model prepared at
individual restaurant level. We evaluated the key assumptions
used in the forecast, including revenue growth and profit
margin, with reference to actual historical performance of the
relevant restaurant. We also assessed the discount rate used
in the forecast with reference to industry research.
ERERYE BB LREBELOREN G E  RANE
ARFEEAFATE ERERENERERGAERMNER
RenE8RAER - HAL2EHBEENERBERR
MIRIFT A B RER - BB AR RAEE - RMIR2
AT S ETRRIPTAABEER K o

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R

85



86

Independent Auditor’s Report
% 3% B

Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ETOMEEBRETSIE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and provision for onerous contracts

WH - BERRERETERERMEEHRE

Management judgement is required to identify those
restaurants requiring provision for impairment of PPE and
provision for onerous contracts, including the identification
of PPE and impairment indicators and the determination of
unavoidable costs and economic interests from operating
those restaurants during the remaining non-cancellable lease
period. The determination of the recoverable amount and
the resulting provision amount for PPE and provision for
onerous contracts involves the use of key assumptions in a
discounted cash flow forecast model, and estimates of least
cost on continued operation for the restaurant’s remaining
lease term such as revenue growth, gross profit margin and
discount rate.
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We focused on this area because this assessment requires
the use of significant estimates and judgements by
management in the forecast of revenue growth, gross profit
margin and discount rate and accordingly, this was an area
of audit focus.

BREPRZEE BRI EFEEZEREERAIK AL
REMNERUREFRAERNGERAE  QEBETE
BheEhS -
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In respect of provision for onerous contracts, we assessed
management’s determination of economic benefits and
unavoidable costs based on the work that we have
performed for impairment assessment of PPE mentioned
above, as well as checking the unavoidable lease payments
until the expiry of the non-cancellable lease terms against the
relevant tenancy agreement terms.
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We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the discounted
cash flow model and calculation of provisions.

BATAAAMRE S RERA MG ERE 2 EMEREE-

We found, based on our audit procedures performed,
that the key assumptions used by management in this
assessment were supportable by available evidence.
RBBFIPTETOET R RMBREREHEM AR E
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ka Keung, Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A THEWEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z 2019 4 3 A 31 HiIFF/Z

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5E FET T
Revenue Y #5 5 171,233 193,532
Other income H A A 305 357
Finance income BEWA 6 1,084 601
Cost of food and beverages B BB AR (42,027) (46,336)
Employee benefit expenses EERAHXZ 8 (58,350) (62,702)
Depreciation and amortisation e R (12,118) (9,643)
Property rentals and related expenses VM MAERE R (64,240) (55,005)
Fuel and utility expenses Bk ABEERS (6,644) (6,706)
Advertising and marketing expenses EERERRAX (902) (831)
Impairment loss on property, Y- BER&EZ
plant and equipment REEE (5,190) -
Other operating expenses HiZEMx (21,591) (15,016)
Loss before taxation MR AIE 1B 7 (38,440) (1,749)
Income tax (expense)/credit i (Ax) #E& 10 (4,496) 248
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRAEEREZEEREE
for the year (42,936) (1,501)
Attributable to: AR A FEfh:
Shareholders of the Company RNAEPRR (42,936) (1,501)
Basic and diluted loss per share ERERNMEEEE
(HK cents per share) (=R&AML) 12 (5.37) 0.19)*

* Adjusted for the share split in 2019

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a BRI R

As at 31 March 2019 #2019 4 3 A 31 A

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt 5E FET T
ASSETS BE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e ] 13 12,828 24,183
Intangible assets mEE 9 12
Investment in an associate REEE R BRI E 14 - =
Rental and utilities deposits Hek AAEXEZS 17 11,512 17,205
Prepayments for property, Y2 B R TE S BUR
plant and equipment 17 - 1,858
Prepayments for business acquisition XU 2 B IE 17 2,788 -
Deferred income tax assets EREFTIS I E B 23 541 4,917
27,678 48,175
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 15 2,098 1,924
Trade receivables B 5 MW F IR 16 639 1,251
Prepayments, deposits and ENRIE ek
other receivables E {th fE Y zk08 17 10,306 7,680
Financial asset at amortised cost BEHER AT EZ SREE 18 35,476 -
Current income tax recoverable A] Ug [B] BN EA T 15 A 588 3,009
Restricted cash R 3 & 20 - 1,114
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 20 48,161 95,761
97,268 110,739
Total assets HMEE 124,946 158,914
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders of RN B IR R PE AL S
the Company
Share capital A% 7R 24 2,000 2,000
Other reserves H b fE 88,312 88,312
Retained earnings {REB & A 1,695 44,631
Total equity R 92,007 134,943

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEEMBARRE
As at 31 March 2019 #2019 % 3 A 31 H
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FET
LIABILITIES afE
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBERE
Other payables H b &~ 5E 22 3,470 5,446
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMSHREE 23 423 516
3,893 5,962
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B S e FIE 21 3,514 4,020
Other payables and accruals H e 5k I8 R IEET & A 22 25,532 12,797
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTS R A E - 1,192
29,046 18,009
Total liabilities HWEF 32,939 23,971
Total equity and liabilities HEZKREE 124,946 158,914

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 163 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2019 and were signed

on its behalf.

Wu Jingtao
RIIE
Director

EF

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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KEZSHASTHATKERES -

Li Jia
=
Director

EF

AR A A TS AR O 3R B S B P B 5 — GBI RE

REARERARAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREEER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z 2019 4 3 A 31 HiFF/E

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

RAFRRELR
Share Share Capital Retained
capital premium reserve earnings Total
BE  RHEE EXREE  REEAN @it
(Note 24) (Note)
(PBitzE24) (PraE)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThET THET THET THET THET

At 1 April 2017 20174 A1H 2,000 87,970 342 46,132 136,444
Loss and total comprehensive loss FNBBELZABERSE
for the year - - - (1,501) (1,501)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R2018E3H31H
K2018F4 A1H 2,000 87,970 342 44,631 134,943
Loss and total comprehensive loss FABBLREAFRAR

for the year - -

(42,936) (42,936)

At 31 March 2019 R201943A318 2,000 87,970 342 1,695 92,007

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the MizE: EARERERESEA KB 2L ENBARRAE
operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal ARBAEHRBEBITRAMBECEZE
value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read LilAR G e B B 3R FE EARE P Y B — OFBOGE o
in conjunction with accompanying notes.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z 2019 4 3 A 31 HiIFF/Z

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET T T
Cash flows from operating activities RETEABRERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & (FTA) /5 8E & 26(a) (7,192) 3,142
Interest received 2R B 521 601
Hong Kong profits tax (received)/paid, net (BU) /BB EMNEH
FEE 1,016 (1,102)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from KEEE) (FTHA) s
operating activities IRe R EFEE (5,655) 2,641
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFBHRENE
Payment of property, plant and equipment VI BB MR B (5,358) (16,174)
Payment for business acquisition ES - INE N (2,788) -
Payments for corporate bonds RAEHFR (49,801) -
Proceeds from corporate bonds NAEIEFFTS A 14,888 =
Change in restricted cash PR 3R & & 1,114 935
Net cash flows used in investing activities ‘EEESFAR S REF5E (41,945) (15,239)
Net decrease in cash and ReRFESEEYRD FE
cash equivalents (47,600) (12,598)
Cash and cash equivalents FNReRFEEEY
at the beginning of the year 95,761 108,359
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRESEEY
at the end of the year 20 48,161 95,761
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR AR E R E R E AR WK —OrE

conjunction with accompanying notes.

RERIRZERAR QA
20196 F 3R}
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Food Wise Holdings Limited”) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is located at Flat 28-30, 44/F, Champion Tower, 3 Garden Road,
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”), unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 27 June 2019.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘“HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have been adopted by the Group for the
first time for the financial year beginning on or after 1
April 2018:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
° HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

° Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

2

REMBHRRME

EASTHEME

RmEUR A M BRI FTRANER ST BRE
RN -BRABRIAN ZFBRERAH
2IFEEBER-

21 REE%E

AEBEEVBREDRIEAAER
MEBVHREEL ([ EEBMBRE
A |) hEE (RRIEH) (F622F)
HIIRE R E R - AR A M TSR IAESL
AL AR -

REFBVBREEANGRE S M
BRAERE TRRE G - WWIF
RERBERAAEENGTHRE
TR (R HIET - S RARS EXR A E
REFEHEES - 208 R HHER A SRR
EHEARR R AT BB NH 4%

o

(a) AEBEHFMBYFETEL R
AERRIEET
LA A720185%4 A1 B sk &5
MR B EAEE B RRAR
FETZE R & 2RI FY IS AT

s BEVBHEEFRE
MTA

) BB B IS RS R F 1555
R A #HUEE

o 20144 F20164F A BB
ER¢i2

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
that relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

HKFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition
of impairment losses — the expected credit losses
(‘ECL”) model, which constitutes a change from the
incurred loss model in HKAS 39. HKFRS 9 contains
a ‘three stage’ approach, which is based on the
change in credit quality of financial assets since initial
recognition.

Assets move through the three stages as credit
quality changes and the stages dictate how an
entity measures impairment losses and applies the
effective interest rate method. The new rules mean
that on initial recognition of a non-credit impaired
financial asset carried at amortised cost a day-1 loss
equal to the 12-month ECL is recognised in profit or
loss. In the case of accounts receivables this day-1
loss will be equal to their lifetime ECL. Where there
is a significant increase in credit risk, impairment is
measured using lifetime ECL rather than 12-month
ECL. HKFRS 9 applies to all hedging relationships,
with the exception of portfolio fair value hedges of
interest rate risk. The new guidance better aligns
hedge accounting with the risk management activities
of an entity and provides relief from the more “rule-
based” approach of HKAS 39.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

HKFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’,
deals with revenue recognition and establishes
principles for reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue
is recognised when a customer obtains control of
a good or service and thus has the ability to direct
the use and obtain the benefits from the good or
service. The standard replaces HKAS 18 ‘Revenue’
and HKAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ and related
interpretations.

The adoption of these new standards and
amendments to standards did not have any
significant impact on the current period or any prior
period.

New standards and amendments to
standards not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for
financial year beginning on 1 April 2018 and have not
been early adopted by the Group:

2

REMBHRRME

EAGITHEBRE (@)

21 wWEEE(®)

(a)

(b)

FEBRPFTED R
R RIEET (@)
BREPBERELENFISHR [FF
B E] R KRR L
B BHRRERAERIREEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards not yet adopted (Continued)

BEACHEERE (8)
21 RBEE%E (®)
(b) BRERMOFHETENR

Z AR EET (&)

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTBE#BSfzZ#
B E T AEENR
HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 1 April 2019
BB ERIZFE199% (BFTA) FTEHERT MER A E 201954 H1H
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term interests in associates and joint 1 April 2019
ventures
ARG ERI 2858 (1BETA) REERBIREE QR RHAER 20194 H1H
HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment features with negative 1 April 2019
compensation
BB M WEEREH (BRI AX) BEAfEENRIARE 2019F4A1H
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 April 2019
BB R EERIFE165 HE 201944 A1H
HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 April 2019
58 (ERMBREZREEZES) P15 %t B2 32 B0 IS 1 E 1 2019F4A1H
— A ZE235E
Annual improvement 2015-2017 cycle Improvements to HKFRS 1 April 2019
2015 2017 F A MY F E Bt BB B RELER 2 B 20194 A1 H
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments)  Definition of materiality 1 April 2020
ERGERERLBEGFER FERZES 20204 H1H
E85% (EFIA)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business 1 April 2020
BEBMEWE LR EIF (BT AR) EBZEE 2020F4 A 1H
Conceptual Framework for Financial Revised Conceptual Framework 1 April 2020
Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting
2018 F M s s 2 B ME R MR E 2 BIEFTHRIESR 20204 A1H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 April 2021
HBPEREERIFETIH REBE L 20214 A1H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

BB WE AR E105% K&
BB G ERZE285E (1BFTA)

100 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and Its associate or joint venture

REEMBABENRIREGENEZEE
BELESIE

To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BATIHEEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 mEEE (%)

(b) New standards and amendments to

standards not yet adopted (Continued)

The Group’s management assessed that there are
no new standards and interpretation that are not
yet effective and that would be expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions, except for HKFRS 16 “Leases”. Further
details of the expected impacts of HKFRS 16 are
discussed below.

HKFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position by
lessees, as the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

Impact

The Group is in the process of reviewing the Group’s
leasing arrangements over the last year in light of
the new lease accounting rules in HKFRS 16. The
standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Group’s operating leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$46,811,000, see
Note 27.

(b)

fa) SR H £ 4R B T BT 45 B B
R RIEET (@)
AEEEEENGRE BER
REBEOFRTER 2R BH
K ER AR 2ZHMENE R
RABERRRRGELEERY
& EBREMBHREEAFE165
[FE]BRSN BB B BRE
ERIF1RIBA R E 2 E— B
BER T X -

EHEY B & ER E1657
HE

EBEHHE
BRMHHRE LR F 165112016
F1ABM HNEERRERE
MR D 2R R A B BUK
HARERE PR R AR
FHEME -REMER EE
(ZMERBOEMAE) B HHE
ENERBENER REEE
ARERMEEERS-

=5 4

o
ENFBYBRELERF165H
AR ARELESR
RAGEEF HELH -ZE
AT BRFEARELEHEN
SRTREHE

R201943 8318 KR&EEE T
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BT B2 M 27 -
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIE

S (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

New standards and amendments to
standards not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

For the lease commitments, the Group expects
to recognise right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$34,099,000 on 1 April 2019 and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$46,179,000 (after adjustments
for accrued lease payments and provision for onerous
contracts recognised as at 31 March 2019). Net
current assets will be approximately HK$17,513,000
lower due to the presentation of a portion of the
liability as a current liability.

The Group expects that net profit before tax will
decrease by approximately HK$480,000 for the
year ending 31 March 2020 as a result of adopting
the new rules. Adjusted earnings before interest
expense, income tax expense, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA”) used to measure segment
results is expected to increase by approximately
HK$20,886,000, as the operating lease payments
were included in EBITDA, but the amortisation of the
right-of-use assets and interest on the lease liabilities
are excluded from this measure.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to

standards not yet adopted (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

Operating cash flows will increase and financing cash
flows decrease by approximately HK$28,655,000
as repayment of the principal portion of the lease
liabilities will be classified as cash flows from financing
activities.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not enter any
lease arrangements as a lessor and hence the
Group does not expect any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements in respect of leases
held by the Group as a lessor.

Date of adoption by Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 April 2019. The Group intends to
apply the simplified transition approach and will not
restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption. All right-of-use assets will be measured at
the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted
for accrued lease expenses and provision for onerous
contracts.).

2 BA®

REMBHRRME

FTECRE L E (&)

21 wWEEE(®)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

2.2.1 Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investment in a subsidiary is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of the subsidiary
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in a subsidiary
is required upon receiving a dividend from the
investment if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEBAHEREME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ASSOCIATE 23 BERQH

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise
the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘share of profit of investments accounted for using equity
method’ in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream

transactions between the Group and its associate are

recognised in the Group'’s financial statements only to the

extent of unrelated investor’s interest in the associate.

Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction

provi

des evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred. Accounting policies of the associate have been

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in the associate

are recognised in the profit or loss.

2.4
(a)

(b)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the profit or loss, except when deferred in other
comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.5

2.6

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
(Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
within ‘other operating expenses’.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM”). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive Directors of the Company, who make
strategic decisions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or
10 years

— Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or

equipment 5 years

— Computer equipment Shorter of lease term or

5 years

— Furniture and fixtures Shorter of lease term or

5 years
— Office equipment 5 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other
income’ and ‘other operating expenses’, respectively, in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of trademarks over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS

2.9.1 Accounting policies applied after 1
April 2018

()

Classification

From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets as loans and receivables at
amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

The Group classifies its financial assets
and liabilities in the following measurement
categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.1 Accounting policies applied after 1
April 2018 (Continued)

()

(ii)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date, the
date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Loans and receivables
are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables (Note 3.1(c)).
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.2 Accounting policies applied until 31

March 2018

(i)  Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans
and receivables. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade
receivables’, ‘deposits and other receivables’,
‘restricted cash’ and ‘cash and cash
equivalents’ in the consolidated statement of

financial position (Notes 2.11 and 2.12).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.2 Accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018 (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date, the
date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Loans and receivables
are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.2 Accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018 (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,
and where observable data indicate that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

2.9.2 Accounting policies applied until 31
March 2018 (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient,
the Group may measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises invoiced cost less purchase
rebates. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 SHARE CAPITAL

2.14

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.15 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
the associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated statement of
financial position. However, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Outside basis difference

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for the associate. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not
recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate only to
the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable
profit available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

In Hong Kong, the Group contributes to the
mandatory provident fund scheme for eligible
employees, the assets of which are held in a separate
trustee-administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

In Hong Kong, employees who have completed a
required number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment, provided that such
termination meet the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019

2

BEACHEERE (8)

216 EEEA

(a)

(b)

(c)

BAEEE

EEE ARBEREERERR
BHEMEATRE A EHR MEE
EAXTEANEBRNBYIESH
B-XNAERHRR AEEH
B A RE E - BRERRE
Hil FE w8 A 1R B AR M 52 - TR MY
HRERREE  HEARTERER
THAMRBERNREERR -

1 & {5 A #E 7
BEFENFEERINEEARE
BEFEREER - CHBEREH
RREERENRBELENFR
BEF BERT B -

BEZANRBREERRGRE
77T LAMER -

= A AR 75 19 3K

EEE REFBREGRD B
AEBRBHEEZEDREFR
MEENERKLKREERESR
RERB 5 B R LA
BEERBHROIFTHNBR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BATIHEEME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 216 EEREF (&)

(d) Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the Group
has formally announced the bonus payments to
employees.

2.17 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Onerous contracts are contracts in which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net
cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising
from failure to fulfil it.
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HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenues are recognised when
goods are transferred or services are rendered to the
customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, service may be provided over time
or at a point in time. Service is provided over time if the
Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

When determining the transaction price to be allocated
from different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles in
the contract period and adjusts the transaction price
for variable considerations and significant financing
component, if any. The Group includes in the transaction
price some of all of an amount of variable considerations
only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18

2.19

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

If contracts involve the provision of multiple services, the
transaction price will be allocated from each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue stream of the Group.

The Group operates a chain of restaurants. Revenue from
restaurants operation is recognised at a point in time when
catering services have been provided to the customers.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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HAEMBwERME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 LEASES (AS THE LESSEE FOR OPERATING

2.21

LEASES)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. Contingent rental arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the financial statements are authorised for
issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting event and are not
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. Because
of the simplicity of the financial structure and the current
operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s
transactions and majority of assets and liabilities were
dominated in HKS. There was no significant foreign
exchange risk.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group holds
assets denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”), including
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents,
exposing the Group to foreign exchange risk.

Should HK$ be strengthened/weakened by 5% for
the year ended 31 March 2018 against the RMB, with
all other variables held constant, the impact of the
loss after taxation for the year ended 31 March 2018
would have been approximately HK$56,000 higher/
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
except for bank deposits, which are at variable
interest rate and subject to cash flow interest rate
risk.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, if interest
rates on all interest bearing deposits had been 100
basis-points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, loss after taxation would have
approximately HK$192,000 lower/higher (2018:
HK$818,000 lower/higher).

Credit risk

Our Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and
financial asset at amortised cost included in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which
represent our Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Restricted cash and cash and cash
equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks, the
Group only transacts with reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial institutions. There
has no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss was
close to zero for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables from third parties. The Group
overall considers the shared credit risk characteristic
and the days past due of the trade receivables and
contract assets to measure the expected credit
loss. Management, considered among other factors
including forward looking information, analysed
historical pattern. Subsequent to the reporting date,
the outstanding trade receivables as at 31 March
2019, were fully settled by customers and the
expected credit loss rate of trade receivables was
zero for the year ended 31 March 2019.

3

TRARE
31 e@EREZ (&)

(c)

REMBHRRME

12 (#)

EEER (&)
ESBWE
$’§ l%‘JEEEE&%L‘A%%%E

Bk T o FEBE RIBEEE
%ﬁiﬂﬁfr%AE’aﬁﬂ%%R%&%
MEELRHEEEMER (ME
MRE) HEEEFHABEBA
MEERSRIEENTEHETT
e REEERABLETRE S
MRS ERNFSRIET 2B

HIEEEE  ZH AR AR
E%Eﬁﬂ@%’i%%uﬁmlﬁﬁwﬁz
HEHEEBERREE FAEEE
BEENDHEERRFLERES
EUREAREGHEERIA -
Nt EEHEEEE - EEED
EEBEABEEERRESTZ
FErEAEEMEAER -RRER
Hi1% - A20194E3 A31 R Z 4 &
BEESHRUFBEHTFEHRE
EREZE201943A31H LFE
2B SRR EEREEBEX

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R

127



128

Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

HAEMBwERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records
and past experience. The directors believe there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balances of deposits and other
receivables and the expected credit loss was close to
zero for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Financial asset at amortised cost

At as 31 March 2019, financial asset at amortised
cost represented a listed corporate bond. The
corporate bond is considered to have low credit risk
as it has a low risk of default and the issuer of the
corporate bond has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations. As of the reporting
date, the corporate bond had been fully repaid by the
issuer and the expected credit loss was zero for the
year ended 31 March 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

criEREIR (&)
31 eRERREZE (#)
(d) FEZELER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continted) 3
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 20) on the basis of expected cash
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the end of each financial
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within twelve
months equal their carrying amounts, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
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HAEMBwERME

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

3.4

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
issue new

shareholders, return capital to shareholders,

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings over capital. Capital
represents total debts and total equity as shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group did not have any borrowings as at 31 March
2019 (2018: Nil).

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets,
including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents and financial
liabilities, including trade payables, other payables and
accruals, approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities
for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest
rate that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments, unless the discounting effect is insignificant.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2019
and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation expense for its
property, plant and equipment by reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will adjust the depreciation expense
where useful lives are less than previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in the
future periods.
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HAEMBwERME

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and onerous
contracts

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations, taking
into account latest market information and past
experience. These calculations and valuations require
the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell or net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business;
and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could affect
the net present value used in the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group’s financial position and
results of operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and onerous
contracts (Continued)

Onerous contracts are contracts in which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected
to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under
a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fuffilling it
and any compensation or penalties arising from failure
to fulfil it. Certain restaurants with non-cancellable
clause in the respective lease agreements generated
losses during the year, management had performed
the assessment on onerous contracts on those loss-
making and underperforming restaurants. Provision
for onerous operating lease was assessed based on a
best estimate of the unavoidable costs and economic
benefits.

Provision for reinstatement costs

Provision for reinstatement costs is estimated at
the inception of leasing property with reinstatement
clause and reassessed at the end of each reporting
period with reference to the latest available quotation
from independent contractors. Estimation based on
current market information may vary over time and
could differ from the actual reinstatement cost upon
closures or relocation of existing premises occupied
by the Group.

REMBHRRME

4 BREFHEAE M HE (&)

4.1 ERSFAEFTTRER (8)

(b)

(c)

WE - WEREEREUR
BEEANZEE (@

BIEESHNEREBITANBNEE
PR EXCORNDIF SR IDEN = F bl
5 AR ¥ 5% B AU 2 48 7 | 5
M B &) e B HIRT 2 7 Al i 5 K
AR BRER %A K H) SRR AR A F
B ABETANMELZNKAR
R BEFE 1T & #91h EE & & (E ]
MERTRRE TR BIEEER -
ETREEMBEERETHET
AIRGH IR B RN F N ELE
B EREECHZEEBEER
KR T EERNERIES LETT
AHh - BIEEEERE 2 BB
TR AL S R AN S AR B ik 2 B
X

EEREREE

ERERBRBINMEHERNLS
5 iR 1B IR RS A S0 B {8 ¥R
EHREHNE BEF2EBL
EBERMEFHRE - RIER
B 45 B BHE RO A 5T ] BERE RS
e i 2 & - 3 7 Bk £ R BA sk iR B
AEEGERNRENEENER
ERERAE-
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HAEMBwERME

5 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS FOR RESTAURANTS
OPERATION AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, who are the CODM
of the Group, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of restaurant
chains in Hong Kong. Management reviews the operating
results of the business as one segment to make decisions about
resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive directors
of the Company regard that there is only one segment which
is used to make strategic decisions. Revenue and profit after
income tax are the measures reported to the executive directors
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

All of the Group’s revenue are derived in Hong Kong during the
years ended 31 March 2019 (2018: same).

As at 31 March 2019, all of the non-current assets of the Group
are located in Hong Kong (2018: same).

An analysis of revenue of the Group is as follows:

ARRMTEETRASENEERLERRE
F BHAKREHARHREAFERAELD
RER - ERECERKEARBARNTESE
FANMEHBRARNBEEELEDE -

AEETEEEENFTEHEREK -BE
EENEGNEEXEEHEETRARE—D
2B ABL B IR 23 BCE R - Btk - KR A
MATEZRAER —EFELBEREN D
M-MATEZ2MURERRDELKE
AHE AR IR S W as KR TS BRI A

REE2019F3HA31H IEFE  AEB UK
HYRBEES (20185 : §HE]) °

R2019F3A31H  AEERERGEEDN
RIRES (20184 : §H[E]) ©

AREFEN WSS :

2019 2018

20195 2018%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTET FH&T

Restaurants operation BEKE 171,233 193,532

For the year ended 31 March 2019, revenue derived from
restaurants operation was recognised at a point in time and no
contract assets and liabilities were recognised (2018: same).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

HE2019F3A3IH L FE  FEEEEE
WSS R R EER A NEE M
B & (20184 : FH[A) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERME
FINANCE INCOME B & WA
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest income from RERTRIEZFBERA
— bank deposits —iRITER 384 601
— financial asset at amortised cost — RN AT EZ EREE 700 =
1,084 601
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION bR Tt B E5 18

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

BRELAT BB E TR A T &

REER:

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B FHEx T
Auditors’ remuneration (2 GIlE=a)
- Audit services — &R 1,700 1,680
— Non-audit services —EEE RS 903 641
Cost of food and beverages B K s A 42,027 46,336
Depreciation of property, M WE Rk
plant and equipment RiBITE 13 12,115 9,641
Employee benefit expenses EERFFXZ 8 58,350 62,702
Impairment losses on property, Y BB k& EREESE
plant and equipment 8 5,190 -
Lease payments under operating leases i M2 FL LA E TH
in respect of land and buildings: HERK:
— Minimum lease payments —RIEAERK 45,184 45,813
— Contingent rental —skAREE 11 61
— Provision for onerous contracts —EBEREEN BE 9,705 =
Loss on write-off property, 6 LESR =5
plant and equipment B E 1,266 =
Foreign exchange differences, net PEHZ% 558 16 (108)

RERIRZERAR QA

20196 F 3R}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 8 EERMAZ (BEEEMH)
DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS)
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Basic salaries, bonus, allowances and EAXRE S T4 FB K
other benefits in kind H {0 E Yta Al 56,075 60,171
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIRE KA — R EHREE 2,275 2,531
58,350 62,702
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS EEEREHMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group include two directors (2018: two) of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note
9. The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2018: three)
individuals during the year are as follows:

AEERERRTHALTBRELARAGIRNA
(2018F MR )EE HEME2FHBER
MIEO2S 2 A MARB -FR  HHB =4
(2018F : =) AT 2B EE AT -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T IT
Salaries, bonus, allowances and Ha EA - R REME YR A

other benefits in kind 1,987 2,034
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRIRE KA — R E HRGTE 54 54
2,041 2,088

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B R FLATIEE :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$1 to HK$1,000,000 17 7T £1,000,0007% 7T, 3 8

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS )
(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of every director during the year is set out

=S EMEA S
(a) EEME
FNZEZZ2HMMES 0T :

below:
Employer's
retirement
Allowances benefit
and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees Salaries in kind (vii) bonuses  contributions Total
BER EEEKER
e #& BEWEN (i) WA TR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TExT TET TER TER TR
Year ended 31 March 2019 HZ2019F3A31H
LEE
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Wong Che Kin (note (i) HEREE (M) - 750 - - 5 755
Ms. Wong Chui Ha Iris (note (i) ﬁ% Eat () - 150 - - 5 155
Ms. Li Jia (note (i) L+ () = 88 = = 5 93
Mr. Lu Shenghong (note (i) BB & (F3EG)) - 88 - - 5 93
Mr. Wat Tat Fei (note (i) and (vi)) JBER A () R (vi)) - 88 - - 5 93
Mr. Wu Jiangtao (note (i) RITELE (FIE) - 88 - - 5 93
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Chi (note (i) REF ST A (HTRRGi) 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin (note (iv)) HEHLE (HFEw) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Cheung Yui Kai Warren (note (v)) REELE (V) 48 - - - - 48
Prof. Lai Kin Keung (note (v)) BERAR () 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Lui Hong Peace (note (v)) E%%E’W&)) 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Cheung Miu (note (vi) ol 5t A (B EE(vi)) 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Cheung Pak To (note (vi)) RAARE & (HiEV) 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy (note (vi)) BT E (HEV) 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Ko Po Ming (note (vi) SEBLE (HFEV) 265 - - - - 265
1,252 1,252 - - 30 2,534

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R
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FEMBRERMEE
9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 ESFRMEFE @
(Continued)
(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (a) EE#ME @
Employer's
retirement
Allowances benefit
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees Salaries in kind bonuses contributions Total
R REY ESRIKER
e & El miEa TR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TAT THET THET THT FHT
Year ended 31 March 2018 HZ2018F3A31H
LFEE
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Wong Che Kin BEBREE = 3,000 443 = 150 3,693
Ms. Wong Chui Ha Iris BERELL - 600 - - 18 618
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Chi HEWLLE 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Cheung Yui Kai Warren REERAE 180 - - - - 180
Prof. Lai Kin Keung (vi) BB A vii) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Lui Hong Peace (viii & B 5 A (vi) 180 - - - - 180
720 3,600 443 - 168 4,931
Notes: Bt 5

(i)

(V)

(V)

(i)

Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 6 July 2018.

Appointed as the executive director of the Company with
effective from 6 July 2018.

Resigned as the non-executive director of the Company with
effective from 6 July 2018.

Appointed as the non-executive director of the Company with
effective from 6 July 2018.

Resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company with effective from 6 July 2018.

Appointed as the independent non-executive director of the
Company with effective from 6 July 2018.

Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective
from 30 April 2019.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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(i)

(V)

(Vi)

(i)

BHEARR R ZHITES - H20185F7H6
HifER-

BEFREARBZHITES 20185
7ABRA AR -

BAERQRZIERITES 5201857
A6H BAERK -

EZEAERARZIERTES  H2018
F7H6HBER

BHEARRBZBIIFAITES 52018
F7RAGHREER -

BEZEARRRZBYIIERITES B
20184E7 B6H AR

BEARRZHITES 52019544
S0H #BAER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vii) ~ No directors waived any emolument during the years (2018: nil).

(ix) No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a
director.

() Other benefits included insurance premium.

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2018: Nil).

INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS, QUASI-
LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN FAVOUR
OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED BODIES
CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2018: Nil).

REMBHRRME

9 EFEFEMEAZ=E @

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEME (@)

MisE: ()

(vii) FAMEESHELMAHNS (20184 :
&) o

(ix) HMERERALEIZERHEME MK
W Bl & SRR ZA TEEES
i 2 AF sk Uk 2 B & o

x HaEANeERERE-

EEERNENRLLEER

HZE20190F3A31HILLFE  HEES
BEHE A 2N &R B IR 4 2 AR 75 T 2 UER 3k
HHHCER AR R AE A sk 4R LEAE A1 (2018
FoE)e

RENEBERBERFE=FREMH
KE

REZE2019F3A31B IEFE - AAT]
MESERAR R ZEZREMEM
F=FZERMNKE (2018F &) ©

NEE- %Z%EEH’J’“T“%IJFE
FREERASHEANER £
EXRREMRZHNER

RAFERIAFEE R AQF
HARRBMEAT (2ER) BERT L
EAREEREMZFESEH 20X
BXFEEER AT R ANER EEK
RHEMZZ 5 (20184F : £&) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERME
9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 FEEMEAZE @
(Continued)
(e) DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN (e) EERRZ ZHREHNFNE
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR RF#=
CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial BRéR & B 75 3R 3% MY s 25FT R BR & O
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and PAN/NETL ) vl N e S =1 )]
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which AAREEREFREFERNFz (T
the Company was a party and in which a director of the BEREE) BERAFERIAFE
Company had a material interest, whether directly or FREBDATENENEARS
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time ZHRE K (20185F : &) o

during the year (2018: Nil).

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 10 FTERAYS (E5)
Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25% N 8 & 7 15 1 T 31K 522,000,000 7T
on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000 and B ET HE RR T vt Il 12 R A T 2K 8.25% L -
thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for the year (2018: fixed rate at K& 1% 1% [E & 1 & 16.5% (20184 : [E F fi &
16.5%). 16.5% ) 48
The amount of tax charged to the consolidated statement of FrAfRE 2 EWER TGRS :

comprehensive income represents:

2019 2018

20195 2018%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Hong Kong profits tax BBMEH

Current income tax BNERFT 15 A0 386 1,191
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBEES (173) (111)
Deferred income tax (Note 23) EIEFTS T (P 7E23) 4,283 (1,328)
4,496 (248)

140 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical

11

amount that would arise using the tax rate of Hong Kong as

follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

10 FIERiRAYS, (IR%) (&)
RS A B AT B R OB R IR B
BEFEANERSETR WTHT:

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTEx FHET
Loss before taxation bR 56 AT E5 48 (38,440) (1,749)
Calculated at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%  1&16.5% M)A FE i Rt E M T E
(2018: 16.5%) (20184 : 16.5% ) (6,343) (289)
Effect of progressive rate at 8.25% (2018: nil) R E8.25% M &
(20184 : #%) (165) -
Income not subject to taxation BASF H A (200) (29
Over-provision in prior year BAFEBREEE (173) (111)
Expenses not deductible DB b3
for taxation purposes 2,185 181
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax 3 #5234 1T 4 18 & 2= 59
assets has been recognised RE)PHFIEEE 3,596 -
Temporary difference of property, plant and WEBERELERIBEE 2
equipment for which no deferred tax asset Y B R R B =5
has been recognised 1,260 -
Derecognition of deferred income tax assets BB B R A RS AR IEEE
in respect of unused tax losses recognised RIEERIELEFEHIBEEE
previously 3,766 -
Derecognition of deferred income tax assets ~ FLBEEERNWZE  BE K&
in respect of temporary difference of RENEREBERIEEREL
property, plant and equipment recognised RSt & E
previously 570 -
Income tax expense/(credit) FrisfimAx,/ (F®) 4,496 (248)
DIVIDENDS 11 I&KE

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2019.

EECNEZMEE2019F3A31B LFE
IR AT AR B o

RERIRZERAR QA

20196 F 3R}
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HAEMBwERME

12 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
the shareholders of the Company is based on the following data.

(a)

(b)

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the

12 BREE

ARBBREBIEERERREEEIRTIIZIA
TEEE-

() BEREXEE

BRERABBRARRRREGRERE
BRIAFABERTE B INEFHH

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during TE
the year.
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER AT
(Note)
(FF3E)
Loss attributable to shareholders of RATRFELEE (FHT)
the Company (HK’000) (42,936) (1,501)
Weighted average number of ordinary BBTTBERNETIE (TR)
shares in issue (thousands) (Note) (B 5E) 800,000 800,000
Basic loss per share FREXREE
(HK cents per share) (AN (5.37) (0.19)

Note: The weighted average number of shares in issue for the year

ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 for the purpose
of loss per share computation have retrospectively adjusted
for the effect of subdividing 200,000,000 ordinary shares into
800,000,000 ordinary shares on 27 August 2018.

DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

For the year ended 31 March 2019, diluted loss per share
equalled basic loss per share as there was no dilutive

potential share (2018: same).

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13 W% BB K&

EMBHERME

=1

Restaurants
and Furniture
Leasehold kitchen Computer and Office Motor
improvements  equipment  equipment fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
EER
HEXE BERE BEi%E GAREE HLAZERE AE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T THT T T THT
At 31 March 2017 H201743A31A
Cost A 24,689 12,044 2,344 9,517 279 869 49,742
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (17,195) (7,768) (1,084) (4,094) (109) (810) (31,060)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,494 4,276 1,260 5,423 170 59 18,682
Year ended 31 March 2018 B E2018%3A31H
LFE
Opening net carrying amount FNREZEE 7,494 4,276 1,260 5,423 170 59 18,682
Additions R 5,449 3,590 964 3,742 606 791 15,142
Depreciation (Note 8) & (KizEs) (3,646) (2,435) (613) 2,719) (72) (156) (9,641)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE 9,297 5,431 1,611 6,446 704 694 24,183
At 31 March 2018 #201853A31A
Cost 2% 26,239 13,686 3,124 12,794 885 1,660 58,388
Accumulated depreciation 2ETE (16,942) (8,255) (1,613) (6,348) (181) (966) (34,205)
Net carrying amount EmFE 9,297 5,431 1,611 6,446 704 694 24,183
Year ended 31 March 2019 HZ2019%3A31H
LFEE
Opening net carrying amount FHREFE 9,297 5,431 1,611 6,446 704 694 24,183
Additions NE 3,035 1,746 1,118 1,307 10 - 7,216
Write off i (694) (129) (70) (295) (78) - (1,266)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (M) (4,448) (3,098) (1,031) (3,213) (158) (167) (12,115)
Provision for impairment (Note 7) AR (fE7) (2,686) (886) - (1,618) - - (5,190)
Closing net carrying amount EREEFE 4,504 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 527 12,828
At 31 March 2019 #201953A31A
Cost A 24,082 14,077 3,918 11,864 729 1,660 56,330
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25+ & K E (19,578) (11,013) (2,290) (9,237) (251) (1,133) (43,502)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,504 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 527 12,828
Note: MsE

Write-off of property, plant and equipment in respect of shop closure of
approximately HK$9,275,000 and HK$8,009,000 (2018: HK$6,496,000 and
HK$6,496,000) have been charged to cost and accumulated depreciation

respectively.

MEEHE I FHEENYE  BE & &#%9,275,000
7 7T 18,009,000 7T (20184 : 6,496,000/% 7T &
6,496,000 B 7T) B9 BlaT AR A R REHTE -

RERIRZERAR QA
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HAEMBwERME

14 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 14 RREEE AR
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Investment, at cost & K ARG 250 250
Losses shared in previous years BEFES(HHER (250) (250)
Set out below is the associate of the Group as at 31 March 2019 AT &5 7820194F &2018F3A31HEER
and 2018 which, in the opinion of the directors, is immaterial AEHAREEMS W AERHANEBBERQ
to the Group. The associate as listed below has share capital Ale TXFTABE AR A ERELE
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the R-BHASEBEERSS  sEMA Sz ek Ar
Group; the country of incorporation or registration is also their ERRINAHEEDTE M-
principal place of business.
Nature of investment in associate at the reporting date: RkE B REEE QA RIMIREMNE
Place of Particulars Interest held Interest held
incorporation/ of issued directly at directly at
Name operation share capital 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 Principal activity
R20195 R2018%F
3A31H 3A31H
£18 MR/ Sl CRTRAFHE BHESENER EEEENESR ITEEEED
Kinetic Warehouse (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 25% 25% Inactive
BERRE (HFH)ERAH B 10,000 7T 25% 25% BE

Kinetic Warehouse (HK) Limited is a private company and there is
no quoted market price available for its shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest
in the associate.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERME

INVENTORIES 15 75
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAT

Food and consumables BEEEH

for restaurant operations B X&E R 2,098 1,924

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in ‘cost of food and beverages’ in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, amounting to approximately
HK$42,027,000 (2018: HK$46,336,000).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

ERAERAI R AGREAEZEKRERA
[RmERBRAWMFEEXRAETRELN S
42,027,000 7T (20184 : 46,336,000
JC) °

16 & 5 R WA

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHE T FATT

Trade receivables 2 FrE WA 639 1,251

Trade receivables represent income receivable from restaurant
operations. The credit period granted to trade customers was
within 1-15 days.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date
was as follows:

BHRWFREEREEREEMFHRA -
TESZEPMEER/MEIGRA-

B 5 EUBCGRIBE N 2 B H 6 AR e 5 A 40
T

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

0 to 15 days 0215K 639 1,251

As at 31 March 2019, the trade receivables were neither past due
nor impaired (2018: Nil).

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their
fair values as at 31 March 2019 and are denominated in HK$.

R2019F3A31H ' & 5 fE W 5/ I8 B oK 0 Hf
INER{E (20184 « 4 ) -

R201963A31H B 5 WK IE 2 BRI &
BENADEERE L ABTE

RERIRZERAR QA
20196 F 3R}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRTRMEE
17 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17 FERTRIAE - ke R H M K ERIE
RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FATT
Prepayments SELNE O] 5,298 5176
Rental and utilities deposits HeEk A AEEES 19,308 21,541
Other receivables E {th jE 3k IB - 26
24,606 26,743
Less: non-current portion R FEENEAEE
— Rental and utilities deposits —HekARAEFRE (11,512) (17,205)
— Prepayments for property, — W% B &R EEAKIE
plant and equipment - (1,858)
— Prepayments for business acquisition — S 2 TR IR (FYEE)

(Note) (2,788) -
Current portion BN ER&f 10,306 7,680
Note: The balance represented prepaid legal and professional fee in relation st 45 #4 5 B2 UK BEMSEC Investment Limited

to the acquisition of MSEC Investment Limited (‘MSEC”). Subsequent ([MSEC |) B TEM AR R EEER - Rk

to the end of the reporting period, the acquisition had been completed. % WIBEEIED T - A 1B B2 MK

Please refer to Note 30 for details. 30 °
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other R2019E3A31 R ' B[ FIA e R EME
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2019 WHIEREmMEEE A RBEMRAELANRT
and are denominated in the following currencies. BHEETE -

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHTT

HK$ BT 24,206 26,743
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARE (TARE]) 400 =
24,606 26,743
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR
FINANCIAL ASSET AT AMORTISED COST 18 REHMATEZTHEE
As at 31 March 2019, the balance represented an unsecured MR20195E3H31H  ZEREAEE —F
corporate bond issued by China Tonghai International Financial BYE=FFHBEHEEHERA A
Limited, which is an independent third party of the Group. The BOZERBRARES RREHEAE
corporate bond was issued at par value of HK$35,000,000 35,000,000/ JT 2 1T * & G A 7.25%51 &
with interest bearing at 7.25% per annum and repayable on the N EHI H2019F 4 H23H 218 - I 3Rk &5 HA
maturity date of 23 April 2019. Subsequent to the end of the RE RAMEHFE LR REREER -
reporting period, the corporate bond had been mature and fully
repaid.
SUBSIDIARIES 19 M1E R A
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 and R20194F K20184F3H31H = EHE A A
2018 are shown as follows: ZHEBNT

Issued and
Place of incorporation and Date of fully paid Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation share ca;/)_ital Effective interest held place of operation
8 AMM LR AR R Y B g?%% RUTEERENERER TEEHREEHE
oe8 e
Directly held subsidiaries:
ERBANKEAR:
Prosperity One Limited British Virgin Islands, hm\ted liabiity company 15 March 2016 US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Prosperity One Limited REETHS BEREMLAH 2016§3A15A 100%7T 100% 100%  KEER
MSCT Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 October 2018 HK$1 100% N/A~ Provision of management service in Hong
RAEHEERRAR &8 ARALLH 2018410A3H 1A 100% NER E%ﬁ%kﬁ%ai@ﬁw
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 3 October 2018 US$1 100% N/A~ Dormant
MSCT Investment Holdings Limited  XBRZ &S BRETAR 2018510A3R e 100% TER EEEE
MSCT Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 5 October 2018 US$1 100% N/A~ Investment holding
MSCT Investment Limited ZBRIHE ARELLR 2018410A5H %7 100% NER  REZR
MSC—Tech Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 8 October 2018 US$1 100% N/A~ Investment holding
Mstgﬁeec:h Investment Holdings RBRRRES BRELARA 2018510A8A EF 100% TEA  RERR
imite

MSC-Tech Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, hm\ted liability company 8 October 2018 US$1 100% N/A~ Investment holding
MSC-Tech Investment Limited EEREES ARALAR 2018510A8H = 100% TER  REAR

REaIRHER B R A A
20195 £ 3R
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HAEMBwERME

19 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 and

2018 are shown as follows:

19 BB R A] (&)

R20194F K 201843 A31H = E i B A A

ZHBWT

Issued and

Place of incorporation and Date of fully paid Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity incorporation share capital Effective interest held place of operation
BRTR
%8 AR ISR EEERER A B8 ARRE RATEERANERER TEEHREEHH
2019 2018
20195 20185
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
BEEENKEAT:
333 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
3BIERAT A AREMRT 20045878 1007T 100% 100% EEHE
Goody Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 5 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
EEBRAT A AREMRT 20036458 1007T 100% 100% EEHE
111 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 29 November 2005 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of catering management service in
Hong Kong

MERRE Bk BREERA 2005511A29A 1,000 7T 100% 100% EERERUEEREERE
Aero Tech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 February 2006 HK$100 100% 100%  Food factory
BEERAR BE AREEAR 200652738 100/ 7T 100% 100% Rk
Prosino Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 15 June 2006 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
PRERAH B BREERA 2006567158 1007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Unlimit Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 15 March 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
ERBRAH B BREERA 2007453A15H 10,0007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Dotco Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 20 September 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
S9RRAH B BREERA 200659208 10,0007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Hotex Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 27 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
LHEERAR B BREERA 2008567278 1007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Sydney Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 18 January 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
ERERAH B BREERA 2007515188 10,0007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Printech Corporation Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 24 January 2008 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
mEARAR B BREERA 2008515248 10,0007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Tri-pros Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 24 February 2009 HK$300,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
ZHARAH B BREERA 200952A248 300,000 7 100% 100% EEEREEE
555 Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
555FR AR B BREERA 2004578 1007 100% 100% EEEREEE
Richfield Development Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 26 June 1998 HK$100 100% 100%  Trading of ingredients in Hong Kong
[ERERERAT B BREERA 199846 4261 1007 100% 100% HEEELERHES

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMHRERME
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20 B MRS FEMARZRGIR
RESTRICTED CASH &
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TET FATT
Cash on hand FHEBE® 346 374
Cash at banks RTINS 47,815 95,387
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESFEY 48,161 95,761
Restricted Cash (Note) ZRRFIRE (M) - 1,114
48,161 96,875
Note: B 5
As at 31 March 2018, the balance represented restricted deposits held at M2018F3A31H ' &trigstE TR EHERHIER
banks as to serve as guarantee for certain operating leases. MR ERTT #Y 2 BR 177 5K ©
At 31 March 2019, the maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group R2019F3A31H AEBHEEN S EERR AL
is cash at banks, amounting to approximately HK$47,815,000 (2018: £ %847,815,000/8 7T (20184 : 96,501,000/ 7T ) KR
HK$96,501,000). 17IRE -

EHARERERA
2otor gy 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EEMBRRMEE
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20 W& MIRSFEBYWUKZREHIIR
RESTRICTED CASH (Continued) & (8)

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FER T
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in: A FAIlEEHENIR S &
REeEFEY:
HKS BT 48,161 95,761
RMB AR - 1,114
48,161 96,875
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily RITRSEBREST BRITFHRFAERTENF
bank deposit rates. The effective interest rate on time deposits B F K5t B o & E2019F3A31H L FE
is 1.17% for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: 0.93%). The EMRFHRHNEEREMNE/1.17% (20184
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no 0.93% ) < SRITHEB TN EE R ZE B H
recent history of default. B X REERMIRTT 0
21 TRADE PAYABLES 21 E 5 ENFIR
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the reporting date, RS BB E Z R FRIBEN ZE B M
based on the invoice date, is as follows: IRERDITIAT :
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FHET
0-30 days 0230k 3,514 4,020
The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms Z S EMNFBEAETE  BZE—&A30
of 30 days in general. Re
The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their B RNRBREAEEEAEBERES -
fair values and are denominated in HK$. A LA TTETHE
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GEMBHRERME
22 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22 HihENZIENIESTE R
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Accrued employee benefit expenses EErEERFIRX 4,771 5,771
Provision for long service payment REAPRTE & B 1,060 935
Provision for unutilised annual leave RNE A FBREME 858 920
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (a)) EIREREE (@) 3,747 4,178
Provision for effective rental BEREEBE 2,375 3,202
Provision for onerous contracts EEMEEHZBE 9,705 =
Amount due to a former executive director B — BB TE EHIE (KI5E
(note (b)) ©)) 3,000 -
Others EAh 3,486 3,237
29,002 18,243
Less: non-current portion W FERNERER 55
— Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (@)  —fE/R & A% 4E (M :E(@)) (2,249) (3,465)
— Provision for effective rental —EREEBE (1,221) (1,981)
Current portion BN EAER 2 25,532 12,797

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals
approximate to their fair values and are mainly denominated in
HKS.

Note:
(a) Provision for reinstatement costs

Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as

Hip AN ERT EAAREERE QR
BEME LEEZXETE.

B 5 :
(@) EREARE

AEENERERBRENESHIT

follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
At the beginning of the year F4 4,178 3,976
Provision during the year FREE 360 780
Actual costs paid ENERER (791) (578)
At the end of the year FR 3,747 4,178

(b) Amount due to a former executive director
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(b) EN—BABTESRER
MHRARIRAEER 28 RIEERER -

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBRERMEE

23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

23 IRIEFF1SHR

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTMEE 541 4,917
Deferred income tax liabilities BREFSTBE (423) (516)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during
the year is as follows:

FR-BREMSHREERAGBOESHMT

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS ELEMEHREE
Temporary
difference
arising from
property, plant Tax
and equipment losses Total
¥ BER
REEEZ
ERER BEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
At 1 April 2017 R201764 518 1,279 2,093 3,372
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated (8)/FAGEZERER
statement of comprehensive income (128) 1,673 1,545
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R2018F3A31R &
201854 H1H 1,151 3,766 4,917
Charged to the consolidated NEHRaEENER
statement of comprehensive income (610) (3,766) (4,376)
At 31 March 2019 RM201943H31H 541 - 541
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FEEMHRERME
23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 23 BEIEFTEH (&)
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES EEFEHEE
Temporary
difference

arising from

property, plant
and equipment

- -BER
REEEZ
BRFE
HK$ 000
FHET
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 518 299
Charged to the consolidated statement of HBFE 2l EE
comprehensive income 217
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 MR2018F3H31H
201854 A1H 516
Credit to the consolidated statement of STAGRAEEZEKER
comprehensive income (93)
At 31 March 2019 MR2019F3A31H 423
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses BEFGHEEDHDAE o HIBEERE
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related RMWLAB AL E B AR RERT R A FRE
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group BT IE 2 AR o AN B B 1] 4588 LA S5 R
has unrecognised tax losses of HK$44,626,000 (2018: nil) that 7% & FR TR U B A B SR R TE B 18 44,626,000
can be carried forward against future taxable income. These tax HETT (20184 : ) - KRR E R T HEE
losses have not been recognised due to uncertainty of future M- R E T IEE R R R o AR IR S
realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry date. BfimEEmBE -

EHARERERA
2019y 193
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GEMBHRERME
24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 PR AN
Number of
shares Nominal value
v g H{E
HK$’ 000
FHET
Authorised: JEIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each (Note (a)) S AE I 1E0.002578 7T A9 38 A%
(MI5E(a))
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and R2017F4/18 -
1 April 2018 2018F3H31H &
2018F4H1H 1,000,000 10,000
Increased in authorised share capital (Note (a)) EERRAIE AN (M FE@)) 3,000,000 -
As at 31 March 2019 MR20194F3A31H 4,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each (Note (a)) &I E0.00257 T Ay I8 A
(MI5E(a))
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and R2017F4 418
1 April 2018 2018F3H31A &
2018F4H1H 200,000,000 2,000
Increase in ordinary shares (Note (a)) LB (k@) 600,000,000 -
As at 31 March 2019 20193 A31H 800,000,000 2,000
Note: B 5E
(@  On 27 August 2018, each of the issued and unissued ordinary shares @  M2018F8H27H FREE0.01E T ZE %

of par value of HK$0.01 each was subdivided into four ordinary shares

of par value of HK$0.0025 each.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

25 HEMT X5
(a) EEBAIZXS

iR A MR EMEAREES
REERFRN R ET TIPS :

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following related party
transactions during the year:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT T T
Rental expenses paid and payable to ENEEMTISFNESHAY
— Eternal Prosper Pacific Limited —EEXNFFBR AR (B aE))
(note (ii)) 642 1,926
— Mr. Wong Che Kin (note (iii)) — =B A (MY &) 36 144
— Mrs. Wong Chui Ha (note (iii)) —Em R E L+ (M) 77 306
755 2,376

(i)

(i)

The above transactions were conducted in the normal
course of business and charged at terms mutually
agreed by the parties concerned or in accordance
with the terms of the underlying agreements, where
appropriate.

Eternal Prosper Pacific Limited is controlled by the Mr.
Wong Che Kin and Mrs. Wong Chui Ha.

Mr. Wong Che Kin and Mrs. Wong Chui Ha have
resigned as the executive director of the Company on
6 July 2018.

(i)

(i)

B 5N BHERBRTE
11 X328 BAR] 4977 18 B 15 T O 16k
AR BAR R W (LE A ) YR
g

BERFFERAFRHAESERL
EREBREL TS -

ELBREERERELLIHRN
201847 A6 A BHEA R T Z 81T
BEo

RERIRZERAR QA
2019 £ 3R
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HAEMBwERME

25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, key management
represents the executive directors of the Group (2018: the
executive directors and senior management of the Group).

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group,
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 9 to

25 EHFEEH 2R 5 (8)
(b) EEEEEFHM

HE2019F3A31HILFE TEEH
[BieAREBEHITESE (2018F : NEE
WITEEREREERE) -

AEEFZEEREABNFHM (B
EMBEBRAM T WEBENEZHM)

the consolidated financial statements, is as follows: AR
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET AT
Salaries, bonus allowances and e e EEREMEYER
other benefits in kind 1,252 4,949
Pension costs-defined RIRE KA — A EHERETE
construction plans 30 204
1,282 5,153

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

26 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 26 EBeR=ERNE

(a) CASH (USE IN)/GENERATED FROM (a) K& (FiA) FBRE
OPERATIONS
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt 5E FTEx FHT
Loss before taxation B 75 BB 1R (38,440) (1,749)
Adjustments for: AT 2
Impairment losses on property, Y2 - R KRB S 1B
plant and equipment 7 5,190 -
Provision for onerous contracts EEME 4 2 B 9,705 -
Loss on write-off of property, WEEZE - BB &
plant and equipment Rz BB 7 1,266 =
Depreciation of property, Y- WE REETE
plant and equipment 7 12,115 9,641
Amortisation of intangible assets &2 & 2 # 5 3 2
Finance income B & WA 6 (1,084) (601)
(11,245) 7,293
Changes in working capital EEESEE)
Change in inventories GFEZg) (174) 81
Change in trade receivables B 5 eI & (639) (1,251)
Change in prepayments, ENRIE Bek
deposits and other receivables H b e W kI8 B) 4,318 (187)
Change in trade payables B 5 R EE) (506) 163
Change in other payables and b BUE &
accruals fEET & & 1,054 (2,957)
Cash (use in)/generated from K& (R /BB e
operations (7,192) 3,142

RERIRZERAR QA

2ot0xs®m 197
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EEMBRRMEE
27 COMMITMENTS 07 HEIE
(A) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (A) REBEAE

The Group leases certain of its restaurants, office premises

and warehouses under operating lease arrangements.

Leases for these properties are negotiated for terms

ranging from one to five years (2018: one to six years).

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

AEERBELEHELHHBEEET
EE -MAEMERRE - HHEZEY
ER—ERF (2018F : —EXRF)H
HEATERS -

AREERBETAIBHLEREMAR
THIEAMR 2 HES S B R R X ETHE
AR ERLAT

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FA&ET

As lessees ERABEA
Within one year —FR 28,274 45124
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZFERF(BEEEME) 18,537 35,273
46,811 80,397

In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain

restaurants are based on the higher of a fixed rental and

contingent rent based on the sales of these restaurants

pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the

respective rental agreements. As the future sales generated

by these restaurants could not be reliably determined, the

relevant contingent rent has not been included above and

only the minimum lease commitments have been included

in the above table.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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FEMBHRERMEE
27 COMMITMENTS (Continued) 27 EIE (B
(B) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (B) BEAEIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed R _E X FRllp A 1 SR IEN - A E
above, the Group had the following capital commitments: BB TEARAEE .
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Leasehold improvements and property, HEEERIE FHE KL
plant and equipment B
Authorised and contracted for ERERBBERTH - 700
Authorised but not contracted for BEEEERTH - 1,158
- 1,858

RERIRZERAR QA
20196 F 3R}
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GEMBHRTRMEE
28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 28 &% e TE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial JrAE= BRI AZEREEN
instrument as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: T~
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets included in the consolidated FFARE M BRRARZEE
statement of financial position
Financial asset at amortised cost: R SR NG 2 Z TREE:
— Trade receivables — & Z W 639 1,251
— Prepayments, deposits and = fﬁ k78 - hz & K E fib g Uk
other receivables PIH 19,308 21,567
— Financial asset at amortised cost —REBENATEZEMEE 35,476 =
— Cash and cash equivalents and —BERREFEMWAR
restricted cash PR HIER & 48,161 96,875
Total et 103,584 119,693
Liabilities included in the consolidated FFAMRE B RERZBE
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: ?ﬁiﬁﬁ%’ﬁﬁizﬁﬁiz TRAE:
— Trade payables B 5 I8 3,514 4,020
— Other payables and accruals = E 1t & < 5RI8 &JE &R 6,486 9,010
Total HET 10,000 13,030

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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REMBHRRME

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(A) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

29 AATBBIRE R EER

(A) A2 7R E

THE COMPANY

As at 31 March
M3HA31H
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
ASSETS BE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENB AR ZIEE - -
Amount due from a subsidiary e Ug — FEI B B8 A B 3B 20,000 20,000
Prepayments for business acquisition XMW 2 BN FIE 2,788 -
22,788 20,000
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TET KB 236 280
Financial asset at amortised cost BEENAFTECeREE 35,476 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UGBS B A Rl FUIE 834 —
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEFEY 35,971 69,333
72,517 69,613
Total assets BEE 95,305 89,613
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERRAE
Equity attributable to shareholders &2 T R R FE/G xS
of the Company
Share capital [N 2,000 2,000
Other reserves s 61,326 69,573
Total Equity RS 63,326 71,573
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals EAh FE T 5/ IE K IEET B A 2,200 -
Amount due to a subsidiary &t — R B B A Bl 7k I8 29,779 18,040
Total liabilities weE 31,979 18,040
Total equity and liabilities HERRERE 95,305 89,613

RERIRZERAR QA
20196 F 3R}
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HAEMBwERME

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

20 AAFHBHRE KBS

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(B) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(%)

(B) XD EIEERS

Share Accumulated

premium Losses Total

&4 & B Rt BB @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THIT THT

At 31 March 2017 R2017%3A31H 87,970 (18,928) 69,042
Profit and total comprehensive income  FREFI R 2 E NS AHE

for the year - 531 531

At 31 March 2018 R2018%F3A31H 87,970 (18,397) 69,573
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRNBBELZABERE

for the year - (8,247) (8,247)

At 31 March 2019 201953 A31H 87,970 (26,644) 61,326

30 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

ACQUISITION OF MSEC

On 24 April 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of
MSEC. MSEC in turn indirectly hold 50% equity interest in
Beijing Minshang ZhiHui E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (“Minshang
Zhihui”). Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology
and e-commerce related business in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) focusing on providing e-commerce services to
financial institutions and its other customers in the PRC.

The consideration was settled by way of issue of 58,918,182
shares (the “Consideration Shares”) by the Company to the
Vendor at the Issue Price (i.e. HK$1.1 per Consideration Share).

The Consideration Shares represent approximately 7.36% of the
issued share capital of the Company prior to the issue of the
Consideration Shares and approximately 6.86% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and
issue of the Consideration Shares.
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30 ¥REHIEEIE

W iEMSEC

R2019F4 5248 - AEE R UKEEMSEC °
MSECHZR AL RAREEREFABAR
AR ([REEE])S0%EE RESEEE
RpEARLMNME ([FEDEERELE
FRIBMEBER ZXRmemlERER
PR HEMEFIREEFRHERS -

RETIARRBME HIZEITE (BIEFRA
BRLD1.17 7T ) 321758,918,182R% A& (Tt
B, ) 2 ER -

REBRDBERARBARBITRERDATZ
BB ITIRAKI7.36% R AR B L AL 3 M 31T
RERDERE 2B RITHAL6.86% °
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e BREME
380 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 30 HEHREE B

(Continued)
ACQUISITION OF MSEC (Continued) Y iEMSEC (&)
Following the Completion, the Company indirectly owns the REME AR A EEEBMSECE S E 3
entire issued share capital of the MSEC, which in turn indirectly 1T - T MSEC#E #MSEC Investment (HK)
holds 50% equity interests in Minshang Zhihui through MSEC Limited ([MSEC HK |) iR EREE R
Investment (HK) Limited (‘MSEC HK”). As such, the MSEC 50%0% #£ o A It * MSEC K MSEC HK# X £
and MSEC HK will become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the RRAZ 2 EKE2R R AMSECKMSEC
Company and the financial results of the MSEC and MSEC HK HKZ 81 75 3£ 48 1 PR AR A &) 2 B 75 3R 3% 4R
will be consolidated into the financial statements of the Company. SN

EEARER AR AT
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hEMBHME

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

AEEBEDNEVRFENFENNEE HEa

Group for the last five financial years is as follows: LeaEMENT:
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 March
HBZ3AMBLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20195 20185 20174 20165 20154
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT FTET THT
Revenue Wz 171,233 193,532 189,830 200,915 210,078
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (B1R) /&7 (38,440) (1,749) (6,146) 28,743 22,416
Income tax credit/(expense) FiERES,/ (%) (4,496) 248 (1,782) (4,838) 3,611)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (loss)income R (E8) /&H k2 E (&
for the year 18),/WEEE (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905 18,805
Attributable to: AT AL EfG#ER:
Shareholders of the Company ARAIRE (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905 18,805
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKBE
As at 31 March
W3A31H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 20154
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT FET THT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 27,678 48,175 38,709 25,727 29,973
Current assets MEBEE 97,268 110,739 123,399 52,420 61,525
Total assets BEE 124,946 158,914 162,108 78,147 91,498
Equity and liabilities ExRERE
Total equity B 92,007 134,043 136,444 54,402 60,211
Non-curent labiites ~ Jr®E® | 3893 592 3414 2218 2,554
Current liabilities mEEE 29,046 18,009 22,250 21,527 28,733
Total liabilities Baf 32,939 23,971 25,664 23,745 31,287
Total equity and liabilities BEZRER 124,946 158,914 162,108 78,147 91,498

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the three years
ended 31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017 and of the assets, equity and liabilities
as at 31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017 are extracted from the Prospectus.

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the two years ended
31 March 2018 and 2019 and of the assets, equity and liabilities as at 31
March 2018 and 2019 are extracted from the Company’s published audited
financial statements.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

et : ANEEE E20154 « 20164 &201743 8318 (E =1@
FEE 4R A B A R A20154 20164 201743 8
JTHAMEE EakaEMENREEEHBRER

AL EE E20184F 201943 A31 B IE /M 4 8 f4R
BEFE AR N20184E K 2019FE3 A1 A EE  #x5
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